

Length of residence and pregnancy outcomes in women of migrant origin

Risks of stillbirth, infant death, caesarean section and preterm delivery

Ingvil Krarup Sørbye

Norwegian Resource Centre for Women's Health Oslo University Hospital

Faculty of Medicine University of Oslo

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREFACE	4
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	6
DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS	8
SUMMARY	11
LIST OF PAPERS	13
I INTRODUCTION	14
1.1 BACKGROUND	14
1.2 CLASSIFICATION OF MIGRANTS	16
1.3 Social inclusion and immigrants' pregnancy outcomes	18
1.3.1 Length of residence as proxy for social inclusion	18
1.3.2 How does length of residence impact on pregnancy outcomes?	19
1.3.3 Why study pregnancy outcomes and the impact of length in residence among immigrants to	•
Norway?	20
1.4 MIGRATION AND PREGNANCY OUTCOMES	21
1.4.1 Suitorin ana injani avain 1.4.2 Protorm dolivery (PTD)	22 24
1.4.2 I reterm derivery (11D)	27 25
1.5 IMMIGRANTS TO NORWAY	27
1.6 BIRTH PATTERNS AMONG MIGRANT POPULATIONS IN NORWAY	29
II AIMS OF THESIS	31
III MATERIALS AND METHODS	
	20
3.1 STUDY DESIGN	32
3.2 DATA SOURCES	33
3.2.1 The Medical Dirith Registry of Norway	33
3.2.2 The National Topulation Register and Statistics Worway	34
3.3 STUDY POPULATIONS	34
3.4 OUTCOME IDENTIFICATION AND VERIFICATION	36
3.5 EXPOSURE ASSESSMENT	38
3.6 DEFINITIONS OF COVARIATES	39
3.7 STATISTICAL ANALYSES	41
3.8 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	42
IV SYNOPSIS OF RESULTS	43
4.1 Study I	43
4.2 Study II	45
4.3 Study III	47
V DISCUSSION	49
5.1 Main results	49
5.2 METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS	50
5.2.1 Strengths and limitations of the study	51
5.2.2 Random errors and reliability	52
5.2.3 Internal validity: confounding, information bias and selection bias	52
5.2.4 External validity	55
5.3 INTERPRETATION OF THE RESULTS	56
VI CONCLUSIONS	62
VII FUTURE STUDIES	64
VIII CLINICAL AND PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS	65
IX REFERENCES	66
X APPENDICES	81

PREFACE

My late father, a biochemist who studied the coagulation of chicken blood, introduced me to the world of research at a very young age. I used to assist him with his laboratory experiments. First, I would help him hold the chicken; then, he would slowly draw the dark red blood. It was at this point that I inevitably found myself on the floor, fainting at this overly exciting show. I do not know whether these early impressions kept me away from experimental research.

I have been fortunate to work within obstetrics and public health in low-income settings such as Nepal, East Timor, Afghanistan, Kenya, Tanzania and Somalia. This work showed me the importance of social and cultural contexts in applying biomedicine. This experience naturally pushed me towards obstetrics because women's health is primarily about access to reproductive health services. After my return to Norway, I faced some of the same obstacles that I had experienced in the field. These issues included the discomfort of not having a shared language and cultural reference with all patients, not having sufficient knowledge or guidance to properly counsel certain women about whether they had increased risks compared with other women and a discomfort in applying Norwegian majority standards to all.

The migrant population is growing, as is the proportion of births to migrants. This contribution to Norwegian society presents obstetricians with challenges because we cannot simply rely on the past to guide the future. Migrants are increasingly heterogeneous, and their make-up changes every year. Any general statement about migrants living in Norway is most likely going to be incorrect; however, a crude application of Norwegian standards could represent an even greater error. Studying obstetric outcomes combined with understanding the dynamic changes experienced

by migrant populations can provide the most valuable information. We can learn a substantial amount from studying migrants' pregnancy outcomes throughout their duration of residence, which could help us understand how inclusive the health services are. Such information could also help us determine whether any groups need sustained attention to prevent adverse events. Finally, these data remind us that when facing rare adverse outcomes, perfect maternity care for 99% of women does not help substantially if the remaining 1% has the highest risk of problems.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The production of this thesis was made possible through many dedicated individuals and institutions.

First, I am grateful to the Norwegian Resource Centre for Women's Health at Oslo University Hospital Rikshospitalet for financing this project. I would like to thank the head and my main supervisor Siri Vangen. She is a pioneer in migrant health and generously shared her knowledge and international networks. She always had an open door and a quick response. I am further indebted to my second supervisor Anne Kjersti Daltveit at the Department of Global Public Health and Primary Care at the University of Bergen. Her solid epidemiological knowledge and intelligent questions helped me through all phases of the research process, and she generously found space for me in a busy schedule. I would also like to thank my third supervisor Johanne Sundby at the Department of Community Medicine at the University of Oslo. Ever since she sent me off to rural Nepal as a medical student, she has been a mentor and her experience was important for the interpretation of my findings. I am also grateful for the participation of co-author Camilla Stoltenberg at the Norwegian Institute of Public Health, who with her extensive knowledge of epidemiology and immigrant health took the time to engage in study designs and the writing process.

Furthermore, this project would not have been possible without the staff at the Medical Birth Registry of Norway; Stein Emil Vollset and Jon Gunnar Tufta and at Statistics Norway: Christina Lyle, Kåre Vassenden and Minja Tea Dzamarija.

At the Norwegian Resource Centre for Women's Health I had the pleasure of working alongside Ritsa Storeng and Iqbal Al-Zirqi, as well as Pernille Frese, who swiftly transformed figures and tables to something that was intelligible. I am indebted to fellow PhD candidate and my closest colleague Lina Herstad for sharing not just an office, but also our hypotheses, syntax language, DAGs, frustrations and joy. It was great to have many talented colleagues around: Karoline Lerang, Babak Asadi, Anne Helbig, Line Sletner and Hans Kristian Opøien. I am also indebted to Babill Stray Pedersen, who generously shared her ideas. Thanks also to statisticians Kathrine Frey Frøslie at the University of Oslo and Arne Hugo Pripp at Oslo University Hospital, for sharing knowledge and for checking models.

I also want to thank the management of the Department of Obstetrics, Rikshospitalet, at Oslo University Hospital; Thomas Åbyholm, Tore Henriksen and Anne-Sofie Letting for allowing me to keep a foot in clinical practice. Great thanks also to Annetine Staff at Oslo University Hospital for introducing me to research altogether.

Finally, I could not have achieved this without the inexhaustible encouragement, suggestions and support from my husband Austen, the extensive help from my mother Inge, and the energy from my children Frøy, Owen and Mira.

Oslo, May 2014 Ingvil Krarup Sørbye

DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS

DEFINITIONS

Migration indicators:

Age at migration	maternal age in years at first immigration
Country of birth	the individual's mothers residency at the time of birth
Country of descent	the individual's mother's country of birth
Descendant	an individual born in the receiving country of foreign-born parents (second generation of migrant origin)
Ethnicity	the fact or state of belonging to a social group that has a common national or cultural tradition
Generational status	foreign-born (first generation) or born in the receiving country of foreign-born parents (second generation)
Immigrant/migrant	an individual born abroad of foreign-born parents whom have immigrated (first generation immigrant)
Minority	the smaller number of part, especially a number or part representing less than half of the whole
Non-immigrant	an individual born in Norway of Norwegian-born parents (majority population; host population)
Reason for migration	the legal basis for the granting of residence
Receiving country	the country to which individuals are immigrating
Source country	the country from which individuals are emigrating
Year of arrival	calendar year of first immigration

Pregnancy outcome indicators:

Stillbirth	death of a fetus mature enough to have survived outside the uterus (22 completed gestational weeks)			
Infant death	live born who die in the first year of life			
Early death	stillbirth and infant death combined			
Perinatal death Neonatal death	stillbirths and deaths during the first week combined live born who die during the first 4 weeks			
Caesarean section	delivery by caesarean section			
Caesarean rate	number of caesareans per 100 births			
Planned caesarean section	delivery by caesarean section more than 8 hours after the decision was made and performed as a planned procedure			
Emergency caesarean section	delivery by caesarean section within 8 hours of making the decision and performed as an emergency procedure			
Preterm delivery	delivery before 37 completed weeks of pregnancy of a fetus mature enough to have survived outside the uterus (22 completed gestational weeks)			
Preterm rate	number of preterm deliveries per 100 deliveries			
Spontaneous preterm delivery	preterm delivery where birth start was by spontaneous labour or rupture of membranes			
Non-spontaneous preterm delivery	preterm delivery where birth start was by caesarean section or medical induction of labour			

ABBREVIATIONS

CI	confidence interval		
CPD	cephalopelvic disproportion		
CS/CD	caesarean section/delivery		
EU	European Union		
GDM	gestational diabetes mellitus		
ICD	International Classification of Diseases		
LGA	large-for-gestational-age		
LMP	last menstrual period		
MBRN	Medical Birth Registry of Norway		
OR	odds ratio		
PTB/D	preterm birth/delivery		
RR	risk ratio; relative risk		
SD	standard deviation		
SEP	socioeconomic position		
SGA	small-for-gestational-age		
SPSS	Statistical Package of the Social Sciences		

SUMMARY

Background Reducing ethnic disparities in reproductive health and in access to and utilisation of reproductive health services is a public health priority. An elevated risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes has been found in several immigrant groups in Norway, but changes in this risk based on the length of residence in Norway have not previously been assessed.

Aims The aims of these studies that constitute this PhD project were to examine the risk of the following:

Study I stillbirth and infant death according to migrants' generational status
Study II caesarean section and subtypes according to immigrants' length of residence
Study III preterm delivery and subtypes according to immigrants' length of residence
Migrant groups were compared to the host population according to their country of birth and origin and their length of residence in Norway.

Materials and methods We matched birth records from the Medical Birth Registry of Norway (MBRN) with immigration data from the National Population Register (1990–2010). Length of residence was calculated as the difference between the year of first immigration to Norway and the year of delivery. Associations between length of residence and the outcomes were assessed using multivariable regression models. For the study of stillbirth and infant death (Study I), we included Norwegian- and Pakistani-born women of Pakistani descent. For the study of caesarean section (Study II) and preterm delivery (Study III), we included births among the largest groups of immigrants from outside of Scandinavia.

Results *Study I:* The risk of stillbirth and infant death was approximately twice as high among offspring across generations of women of Pakistani descent compared with non-immigrants; however, this finding translated to a small number of excess deaths. First-cousin marriage and lower educational status were risk factors for stillbirth and infant death in offspring of women of both Pakistani and Norwegian descent.

Study II: A longer length of residence was associated with increases in planned caesarean section among immigrants. The association depended on the absolute caesarean rate. In the group with low CS rates the likelihood of planned caesarean reached the risk level for non-

immigrants after two years of residence. The risk of emergency caesarean in this group did not vary across length of residence. Conversely, in the group with high caesarean rates, the risk of a planned caesarean was similar to that of non-immigrants, and the risk of an emergency caesarean was increased by 51–75%, independent of the length of residence.

Study III: A longer length of residence was associated with an increased risk of nonspontaneous preterm delivery. Adjusting for maternal and infant morbidity, such as diabetes, hypertensive and growth disorders, reduced the effect size. Immigrant women were also more likely than non-immigrants to experience a spontaneous preterm delivery; however the length of residence did not mitigate this effect. Furthermore, the risk of spontaneous preterm delivery varied among country groups and was associated with shorter gestational lengths in most minority groups.

Conclusions and recommendations An elevated risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes persists for certain migrant groups in Norway across the length of residence. Action is required to enhance equity of outcomes and to promote integration among specific subgroups.

Study I: Clinical efforts to reduce early mortality in the offspring of women of Pakistani origin should focus on preconception counselling, early diagnosis and the optimal management of fetal disorders.

Study II: Although the current policy to reduce the planned caesarean rate is appropriate for non-immigrants, the policy focus for certain migrant groups – Somali, Philippine and Sri Lankan women – should be to reduce emergency caesarean deliveries.

Study III: Addressing the known causes of preterm obstetric intervention, rather than reducing overall preterm delivery rates, should be the priority. The spontaneous preterm delivery rate has limited value as an indicator of adverse pregnancy outcomes for minority groups, a finding with implications for clinical decision making based on gestational length estimates.

LIST OF PAPERS

Study I

Sørbye IK, Stoltenberg C, Sundby J, Daltveit AK, Vangen S. Stillbirth and infant death among generations of Pakistani immigrant descent: a population-based study.

Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2014;93:168-174.

Study II

Sørbye IK, Daltveit AK, Sundby J, Stoltenberg C, Vangen S.

Caesarean section by immigrants' length of residence in Norway:

a population-based study.

Second submission 15 April 2014 to the European Journal of Public Health; Minor revisions.

Study IIISørbye IK, Daltveit AK, Sundby J, Vangen S.Preterm subtypes by immigrants' length of residence in Norway:

a population-based study

Submitted to BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth, 29 April 2014.

I INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

International migration to Europe has greatly increased over the last 50 years. Approximately half of current international migrants are women.¹ Many of these women are of reproductive age and migrate to establish or reunite with families. As a result many European countries, including Norway, have experienced steep increases in births to immigrant women.² Migrants are diverse in terms of their country of origin, ethnicity, childhood exposures and reasons for migration. Because only selected groups choose to or are able to leave their country of origin, migrants do not necessarily represent the population of the source country. However, the process of migration is common to migrants and is associated with an initial breakdown of social networks, loss of socioeconomic position (SEP) and social exclusion.³ The resulting vulnerability can be further aggravated by pregnancy.

Within immigrant populations in various high-income receiving countries, there are disparities in pregnancy outcomes according to the maternal country of birth.^{4, 5} Although certain immigrant groups to Norway experience better pregnancy outcomes than non-immigrants, many groups have a consistently higher risk of maternal or infant complications or disease. Previous studies have shown an elevated risk of stillbirth, infant death and preterm birth among major immigrant groups.⁶⁻⁸ Adverse maternal outcomes, such as caesarean delivery and maternal morbidity, are also more common in certain immigrant groups compared with the host population.⁹ Among migrants to Scandinavia, explanations for the variation in pregnancy outcomes have ranged from socioeconomic differences and consanguinity⁶ to suboptimal care due to inadequate communication, health literacy and trust of the health system.¹⁰⁻¹²

However, migrants are increasingly diverse, not only in ethnic origin, but also concerning other aspects of migration, such as the length of their residence in the receiving country. On the one hand, length of residence can be used as a measure of social and cultural integration. A longer length of residence is associated with improved SEP in many receiving societies.¹³ A longer length of residence is also associated with worse health outcomes due to changes in lifestyle and exposure to health risks.¹⁴ Less is known about how length of residence affects access to and utilisation of health care. Studies from several contexts suggest that pregnancy outcomes are influenced by the time spent in the receiving country.¹⁵⁻¹⁸ The association varies according to the population and the specific pregnancy outcome being studied;¹⁹ however, there are no studies examining this relationship among immigrants to Norway.

We examined the following four globally recognised indicators of adverse pregnancy outcomes: stillbirth, infant death, preterm delivery (PTD) and caesarean section (CS). We hypothesised that with increasing time spent in Norway, pregnancy outcomes among migrant populations would approximate those of the host population; however, the pattern could vary according to the outcome. If our assumptions were incorrect, we reasoned that changes in the risk of adverse outcomes over the duration of residence would enable us to identify both subgroups at elevated risk and modifiable factors that could be targeted to improve equity and participation in reproductive health care.

1.2 Classification of migrants

Migrants are not consistently labelled; often ambiguous terminology is used for migrants.²⁰ In this thesis, we use the term "immigrants" to describe foreign-born women who have migrated to Norway; the term "descendants" is used to describe Norwegian-born women with foreign-born parents; and the term "non-immigrants" is used to describe Norwegian-born women of Norwegian origin (Figure 1.1). Many foreign-born women living in Norway have attained citizenship; however, for simplicity, they will be referred to as immigrants, disregarding their naturalisation status.

Country of birth

		Born outside of Norway	Born in Norway	
Country of descent	Foreign descent	Immigrant First-generation	Descendant Second-generation	
	Norwegian descent		Non-immigrant	

Figure 1.1 Classification terms, as defined by Statistics Norway.²¹

The challenge of classifying migrants

Different terms and groupings are used to describe the origins of migrants. Any classification system assumes either shared genetic traits, shared social/cultural traits or both. The majority of previous studies on pregnancy outcomes have classified migrants according to their geographical "region of origin" (e.g. South Asian, sub-Saharan African, or simply Asian or African). Fewer studies have categorised migrants by their country of birth. Others have labelled migrants according to the characteristics of their country of origin, such as the level of development²² or economic characteristics.²³ A broad geographical grouping assumes similarities, but it may also average out real differences. A classification by "ethnicity", involves the "ascribed or self-identified sharing of cultural and linguistic characteristics".²⁴ Ethnicity is considered important for system adaptation.^{25, 26} However, a problem with using ethnicity in research is that this concept tends to change according to context. Furthermore, broad ethnic categorisations, such as "Asian" or "African", are likely to average out internal differences.²⁷ Many countries, including Norway, do not register ethnic affiliations.

The Reproductive Outcomes and Migration international research collaboration (ROAM) has recognised "country of birth" as the most relevant and useful classification term for migrants when assessing pregnancy outcomes.²⁸ This recommendation was followed in this thesis.

1.3 Social inclusion and immigrants' pregnancy outcomes

1.3.1 Length of residence as proxy for social inclusion

The theory of acculturation (i.e., the social and cultural inclusion in the majority population¹³) implies that migrants converge towards health outcomes that match the majority population over time (Figure 1.2). Because migration is usually selective, some immigrants may enjoy an initial health advantage. However, this "healthy migrant" effect, or the protective factors that are typical of the cultural and social background of the country of origin, can be lost with increasing length of residence.^{13,29}



Figure 1.2 The relationship between ethnic origin, social inclusion and health outcomes.

In Norway, length of residence is positively associated with a command of the majority language, increased education level, lower use of state economic benefits and less poverty.³⁰ Increased length of residence is also associated with urban living and a decrease in the total fertility rate in most country groups.²¹ However, not all aspects of integration increase uniformly with increasing length of residence across country and gender strata, such as work force participation.³⁰ Age at immigration to Norway also influences social inclusion. A study comparing Norwegian-born

descendants and immigrants who arrived before the age for starting school found that language skills and social inclusion were comparable.³¹ However, those who arrived at a later age had consistently worse language acquisition and social integration scores. Immigrants generally have an SEP disadvantage, which could explain the inequities in pregnancy outcomes. However, SEP indicators developed for non-immigrants (education, profession and income) do not necessarily capture the true social determinants of health across ethnic minority groups.³² A high degree of colinearity between certain SEP indicators and ethnicity also implies that adjusting for SEP can "adjust" away part of the effect of the country of birth or origin.³³

1.3.2 How does length of residence impact on pregnancy outcomes?

Explanations for ethnic disparities primarily fall into two categories; they suggest that disparities are primarily due to either biological (racial/genetic) differences³⁴ or to the lower SEP and exclusion of migrants in host societies.³⁵ In addition, differences could be primarily physiological or pathological. However, advances in the understanding of early programming and health later in life have resulted in these theories appearing to merge.³⁶

Length of residence is likely to affect pregnancy outcomes through improvements not only in SEP but also in majority language skills, health literacy and the use of health services. In turn, these factors can influence access to timely health care through communication, trust, and access to and compliance with health providers and medical advice.¹¹ However, length of residence can also be negatively associated with pregnancy outcomes. An association between increasing length of residence and the adoption of adverse maternal health behaviours, such as smoking, alcohol consumption or drug abuse, has been described for UK immigrants.³⁷ In US immigrants, associations between length of residence and diabetes,³⁸ obesity,³⁹ and an unfavourable cardiovascular risk profile⁴⁰ have been shown. Furthermore, changes in lifestyle could have a larger health impact on immigrant populations compared with

non-immigrant populations due to specific gene-environment interactions. Examples of such interactions include consanguineous marriage in highly intermarried populations⁴¹ and interactions between low birth weight and the risk of diabetes and hypertension later in life.⁴²

1.3.3 Why study pregnancy outcomes and the impact of length in residence among immigrants to Norway?

Although several Norwegian studies, such as the Oslo Immigrant Health Study,⁴³ have investigated the relationship between country of birth and physical and mental health, there have been few recent studies of ethnic differences in pregnancy outcomes. Existing studies often combine migrants into broad categories or do not have the strength to assess rare outcomes. Previous studies have not addressed the diversity of migrants with respect to the length of residence in Norway or across generations living in Norway. Consequently, although these studies have demonstrated differences between immigrants and the Norwegian population, they have not elucidated the direction of these differences, such as whether there is an increasing or decreasing trend in equity in access to, participation in and consumption of health care.^{44, 45} Migrant health is no longer a minority issue. By 2040, individuals of migrant origin will compose 24% of the total Norwegian population compared with the current level of 12%.⁴⁶ This prediction is based on the knowledge that once migration flows begin, they become self-sustaining social processes.⁴⁷ Research comparing different immigrant groups utilises a naturally occurring test situation, which can generate new hypotheses and elucidate more general mechanisms and mediators of disease, uptake of health care services and mortality.

In the next chapter, we will summarise the current knowledge about migration and pregnancy outcomes, focusing on the four selected indicators; stillbirth, infant death, CS and PTD.

A request from WHO to analyse migrants' health outcomes

Because many aspects of migration influence health, the 61st World Health Assembly appealed to member states to assess and analyse trends in migrant health to facilitate evaluations of access to health care and inequity among population groups.⁴⁸

1.4 Migration and pregnancy outcomes

The relationship between migration and adverse pregnancy outcomes varies across epidemiological studies. Due to the heterogeneity of the studied populations, this lack of consistency is not surprising. We will discuss previous findings in the context of the outcome indicators studied in this thesis (Table 1.1), and, where possible, we will emphasise contexts that resemble the Norwegian context. Finally, we will assess studies that take into account migrants' duration of residence.

	Outcome	Definition
Infant outcome	Stillbirth	Death of a fetus mature enough to have survived
		outside the uterus (22 weeks) ⁴⁹
	Infant death	Live born who dies in the first year of life
	Preterm delivery	Birth before 37 completed weeks of pregnancy
		of a fetus mature enough to have survived
		outside the uterus (22 weeks) ⁵⁰
Maternal outcome	Caesarean section	Delivery by Caesarean section

Table 1.1 Indicators of adverse infant and maternal pregnancy outcomes studied in this thesis

1.4.1 Stillbirth and infant death

The risks of stillbirth and infant death vary across populations.^{51, 52} Meta-analyses of migrants to industrialised countries have found that the offspring of Asian, North African and sub-Saharan migrants are at greater risk of fetal and infant mortality compared with the offspring of non-immigrants.⁴ A systematic review found that approximately one-half of the examined studies reported worse mortality outcomes, one-third reported no differences and 13% reported better outcomes for births to immigrants compared with the majority population.⁵ Overall, refugees were found to have elevated risks of fetal and infant mortality compared with those who migrated for other reasons.⁵ However, characteristics of the receiving country affect the rate of fetal and infant mortality.¹⁹ For example, receiving countries with strong integration policies, as measured by their naturalisation rates, have less disparity in perinatal mortality between immigrants and non-immigrants.⁵³ Consistently higher mortality risks have been found for infants born to women in particular groups, such as Somali, Pakistani and Turkish immigrants,⁵⁴⁻⁵⁹ whereas the opposite has been shown for women from East Asia.⁶⁰ Norwegian studies have confirmed elevated stillbirth or perinatal mortality risk among Pakistani and Somali immigrants.^{6,8}

Few studies from Europe have assessed changes in infant mortality in migrant groups across their length of residence. Transgenerational studies, primarily conducted in the US, have found better infant outcomes in the offspring of first-generation compared with second-generation women of migrant origin.^{15, 61} A Dutch study comparing infant mortality rates between offspring born to immigrants and descendants found that changes across generations varied by maternal ethnicity.¹⁷ We are not aware of any Norwegian studies that have investigated infant mortality according to length of residence or generational status.

Stillbirth, perinatal mortality and infant mortality

Historically, stillbirths and deaths in the first week were grouped together as perinatal deaths. This grouping was due to a lack of reliable estimates of the incidence of stillbirths, whereas most countries were able to estimate perinatal mortality.^{49, 62} In the past, stillbirths and deaths during the first week shared a major determinant – birth asphyxia. However, this commonality no longer applies due to improvements in intrapartum fetal surveillance.⁶² The etiology of stillbirth, which can be caused by a number of maternal and fetal health conditions,⁶³ differs from that of death during the first week. Therefore, there are now reasons for the separate reporting of stillbirths and neonatal deaths.⁶⁴

Infant mortality is a benchmark of how a nation cares for its future generations. Infant mortality exhibits a consistent socioeconomic gradient in most societies and is a sensitive indicator for assessing health policies and programmes.⁶⁵ The primary causes of infant mortality vary with increasing infant age, from factors related to congenital conditions to environmental factors such as infectious disease.⁶⁶

1.4.2 Preterm delivery (PTD)

PTD is strongly associated with neonatal death and disability.⁶⁷⁻⁶⁹ The PTD rate (i.e., the number of births that occur before 37 gestational weeks out of all births) is widely used as an indicator of adverse pregnancy outcomes,⁶⁵ and a reduction in the PTD rate is a target of maternal and child health programmes.⁷⁰ Recent studies have shown that even infants born at 34–36 weeks have an increased risk of severe complications and neonatal and infant death.^{71, 72}Although gestational length has been shown to vary according to the maternal country of origin,^{73, 74} the nature of this discrepancy (physiological or pathological) remains controversial.^{75, 76} Studies of ethnic disparities in PTD rates have found both lower and higher PTD rates among foreign-born compared with US-born women.77, 78 A 2009 meta-analysis of immigrants to industrialised countries found that the migrants' overall risk of preterm birth and low birth weight was the same or lower than that of non-immigrants.⁴ European studies of PTD/low birth weight rates have shown a somewhat different pattern, with increases in risk consistently found among South Asian and sub-Saharan immigrants.7, 34, 79-82 Although few studies have distinguished by preterm subtypes, the same pattern of increased risk among South Asian and sub-Saharan immigrants seem to persist for spontaneous PTD (spontaneous labour or rupture of membranes) and nonspontaneous PTD (induced labour or CS before labour).74, 80, 83 In Hispanic US immigrants, elevated PTD rates have not been found to translate into higher infant mortality, a phenomenon known as the "immigrant paradox".^{84, 85} European studies have also shown that mortality outcomes among preterm infants are improved in certain minority ethnic groups.^{7, 86}

With respect to the impact of length of residence, early studies of women of Hispanic origin in the US supported predictions of increases in immigrants' PTD rates with increasing length of residence.^{16, 87} A Canadian study showed that recent immigrants had a lower risk of PTD compared with non-immigrants; however, with increasing length of residence, the rates among immigrants eventually exceeded those of non-immigrants.⁸⁸ However, this trend was not fully replicated in a Danish study,⁸⁹ and no comparable studies have been conducted in Norway.

Spontaneous and non-spontaneous preterm delivery (PTD)

PTD can be classified into spontaneous or non-spontaneous subtypes, depending on the mode of the initiation of labour.⁸⁵ Differentiation between subtypes is recommended to provide clues about the underlying mechanisms and to identify patient subgroups with elevated risks.⁹⁰ However, the two subtypes share many determinants.⁸⁵ The cascade of events that cause spontaneous PTD are not well understood,⁹¹ and attempts to develop predictive models have been disappointing.⁹² In cases of non-spontaneous or provider-initiated PTD, it is important to consider both the underlying conditions and local obstetric policies concerning indications for caesarean delivery and the medical induction of labour.⁹³

1.4.3 Maternal morbidity and caesarean section among migrants

A higher risk of pregnancy complications, such as diabetes, is well known among immigrants from Southern Asia and the Mediterranean region in a range of contexts.^{77, 94} The occurrence of severe maternal morbidity, or near-miss cases, is elevated among foreign-born women in Sweden.⁹⁵ Maternal death is a rare outcome in high-income countries; however, maternal death cases are disproportionately more common in immigrant women compared with non-immigrants in the UK, the Netherlands and Sweden,⁹⁶⁻⁹⁸ and these cases are associated with suboptimal care factors.⁹⁹ In US studies, a longer length of residence is associated to a higher occurrence of pregnancy complications.¹⁶ In Norway, one study found a decreasing trend in the occurrence of hyperemesis gravidarum across residence categories,¹⁰⁰ whereas the effect of residence length on other pregnancy outcomes has not been assessed.

The caesarean section (CS) rate is a marker of pregnancy complications and has been used as an indicator of the quality of obstetric care.¹⁰¹ The CS rate varies widely among sending and receiving countries.¹⁰²⁻¹⁰⁵ Previous studies have shown

both higher and lower CS rates among migrants compared with the majority populations.^{106, 107} In the US, Hispanic migrants have low caesarean rates compared with US-born women.¹⁶ However, as the CS rate is strongly influenced by economic incentives, the impact of private-for-profit vs. public provider and insurance schemes can be difficult to differentiate from the effect of ethnic origin.¹⁰⁸ In European and Norwegian settings, studies have confirmed variations in CS rates according to the maternal country of origin.^{9, 109-111} A consistently elevated risk has been found among Somali immigrants,^{54, 112} whereas a low CS rate has been found in former East European, primarily labour migrants.^{113, 114} However, few population-based studies have stratified CS rates according to the length of residence and none of these have distinguished between subtypes of CS, such as planned or emergency CS.^{106, 107, 115} Thus, the relationship between migrants' length of residence and caesarean risk is still not clear.

Caesarean section (CS)

Although CS is a potentially lifesaving intervention, caesarean delivery is associated with increased maternal risk.¹¹⁶ Furthermore, the risk associated with an emergency caesarean procedure is higher than that of an elective or planned procedure.¹¹⁷ Subsequent pregnancies also carry an elevated risk of severe haemorrhage, uterine rupture and placenta accreta and abruptio.¹¹⁸⁻¹²¹

In the next chapter we will describe the population of immigrants to Norway in terms of their migration history, reasons for migration and birth patterns.

1.5 Immigrants to Norway

Before 1970, immigration to Norway mostly occurred at a steady low rate from neighbouring countries.¹²² However, beginning in 1969 there was a significant increase in net immigration, which was primarily due to labour migration from Pakistan, Turkey and Morocco.²¹ From 1970 to 1980, more than 90% of Pakistani migrants originated from Punjab, whereas the minority came from urban centres, such as Lahore, Karachi and Islamabad.¹²³ By 1971, restrictions on labour immigration had been implemented; in 1975, unskilled labour immigration was halted altogether. Beginning in the late 1970s, waves of refugees arrived from Vietnam, followed by refugees fleeing wars in northern Sri Lanka and the Balkan (from 1993). Somali refugees primarily arrived after 2000, whereas Iraqi migrants mainly arrived from 2003 onwards.³⁰ Immigration due to family establishment or education (including au pairs) from Thailand and the Philippines has increased gradually, with a considerable proportion married to spouses of Norwegian origin. After the allocation of European Union (EU) membership to former Eastern European countries in 2004, significant and increasing labour immigration has occurred, especially from Poland and the Baltic countries. Figure 1.2 shows the numbers of immigrants and descendants from the 15 largest country groups registered as living in Norway as of January 1, 2012.



Figure 1.2 The 15 largest immigrant groups living in Norway as of January 1, 2012.¹²⁴

An assessment of the reason for immigration, as registered by the Ministry of Justice, indicated that four out of ten immigrants to Norway between 1990 and 2009 migrated due to family reunification or establishment.¹²⁵ Similarly, three out of ten arrived as a result of labour immigration and two out of ten as refugees or asylum seekers. As of January 1, 2013, the largest proportion of refugees was Somali immigrants, followed by Iraqi immigrants. However, these categories refer to the legal basis for the granting of immigration and might differ from the real reasons for immigration, or there could be multiple reasons for migration. Most migrants' motivations are complex and multidimensional and do not always fit in the categories of "refugee" or "family immigrant.³"

In 2010, approximately 40% of all foreign-born residents had lived in Norway for shorter than five years. In terms of immigrants originating outside Scandinavia, Pakistanis and Vietnamese have the longest residencies.²¹ Those with the shortest residencies are Polish, Iraqi and Somali immigrants.

1.6 Birth patterns among migrant populations in Norway

In Norway, 4.0% of infants were born to foreign-born women in 1980; this proportion had increased to 21.9% in 2010 (Figure 1.3) In contrast, the descendants of immigrants are still young, and few have begun bearing children.³⁰ In 2010, only 0.9% of all infants were born to Norwegian-born women of foreign descent; these mothers were primarily Norwegian-born women of Pakistani descent.¹²⁶ Only a handful of the offspring of descendants ("third-generation" of migrant origin) have begun bearing children.²¹ Many migrant women are in early reproductive age upon arrival to Norway, causing a high initial fertility at the group level, which subsequently tapers off.¹²⁷ On average, immigrant women from Africa have higher fertility than non-immigrants; there are no major differences for other regions. With respect to descendants, their fertility pattern resembles that of non-immigrants.¹²⁷



Figure 1.3 Infants born to immigrants, descendants, non-immigrants and others in Norway from 1990–2010. "Other" includes infants with one parent of Norwegian descent, adoptees, and foreignborn infants with parents of Norwegian descent. (Source: MBRN)

The pattern of births by country group is primarily explained by the groups' immigration history. The numbers of infants born to the ten largest country groups are shown in Figure 1.4.



Figure 1.4 The number of infants born in Norway from 1990–2010 to the ten largest immigrant groups from outside Scandinavia, according to the maternal country of birth. (Source: MBRN)

II AIMS OF THESIS

The overall aim of this thesis was to examine the association between migrant populations' length of residence in Norway and the likelihood of adverse pregnancy outcomes, as well as to compare these results to those of non-immigrants.

More specifically, the aims were to examine the risk of the following:

- stillbirth and infant death among women of immigrant descent, according to generational status (Study I)
- CS and its subtypes, according to the immigrants' length of residence (Study II)
- PTD and its subtypes, according to the immigrants' length of residence (Study III)

III MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Study design

All three studies were population-based registry-studies based on birth data from the Medical Birth Registry of Norway (MBRN) and immigration and socioeconomic data from the National Population Register and from Statistics Norway. These studies investigated the relationships among maternal country of origin and birth, time in Norway and pregnancy outcomes (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1 Project diagram: main exposures and outcomes.

3.2 Data sources

3.2.1 The Medical Birth Registry of Norway

All births or pregnancies ending after 12 weeks of gestation are required to be submitted to the MBRN. The registry was established in 1967 to improve the surveillance of infant outcomes in response to the thalidomide tragedy.¹²⁸ Since then, the scope of the registry has expanded to provide more details on maternal outcomes. The registry includes information about live births, stillbirths, early neonatal deaths and abortions. The information collected includes data on maternal health before and during pregnancy as well as birth outcomes for mother and infant. A midwife or physician completes a standardised notification form within one week of delivery using information from the antenatal card, medical records and personal interview. In 1999, a new form was created and is presently in use. Both forms are presented in the Appendix.

3.2.2 The National Population Register and Statistics Norway

The National (or Central) Population Register includes information about all individuals with the right to reside in Norway.¹²⁹ The right to establish residence in Norway is awarded after the completion of an individual application and includes individuals with the intention and documented means to remain in the country for a minimum of 6 months. A date of first immigration to Norway is assigned to all legally migrated individuals. For immigrants from countries outside the EU and the European Economic Community area, the acquisition of a temporary or permanent residence permit is typically required for inclusion in the resident register. For citizens of the EU, registration with the Directorate of Immigration is sufficient for obtaining residence. Asylum seekers are included when they receive an official

permission to remain in Norway. Irregular (unauthorised) migrants or foreigners are not included. The registered year of arrival is the basis for national population statistics as the best representation of an immigrants' length of stay in Norway.^{21, 30}

Statistics Norway provided information for this thesis on the legal immigration status of individuals, country of origin and country of birth. The National Education Database,¹³⁰ managed by Statistics Norway, provided information about the achieved level of maternal education at the time of registry linkage.

3.2.3 Registry linkages

On October 8, 2010, we received ethnical approval to link the registry information (approval no. 2010/2231–3). The record linkages were performed in April 2012 and were enabled by the 11-digit unique personal identification number allocated to all residents of Norway. We received the final linked data file from Statistics Norway on May 8, 2012.

3.3 Study populations

The three studies are based on different study populations, which were specifically selected according to the associations studied. The study objective, inclusion criteria, subpopulations, study period and outcomes for each study are described in Table 3.1.

	Study I Stillbirth and infant death	Study II Caesarean section (CS) and residence		Study III Preterm delivery (PTD) and residence	
Study objective	To assess risk of stillbirth and infant death across generations of Pakistani origin	To assess risk of CS by immigrants' length of residence		To assess risk of PTD by immigrants' length of residence	
Study group	10 615 women of Pakistani descent 712 430 non-immigrants	23 147 immigrants 385 306 non-immigrants		40 709 immigrants 868 832 non-immigrants	
Inclusion criteria	Singleton births ≥22 gestational weeks or ≥500 grams	Singleton + multiple births among primiparous women ≥22 gestational weeks		Singleton births Live born, or stillborn ≥28 weeks	
Sub- groups	Women of Pakistani descent:	Women born in:		Women born in:	
	Born abroad n=8814 Born in Norway n=1801	Iraq Pakistan Philippines Poland Somalia Sri Lanka Thailand Vietnam Yugoslav c. <i>Norway</i>	n=2165 n=3086 n=2457 n=2400 n=2014 n=2265 n=1965 n=2695 n=2187 <i>n=385 306</i>	Iraq Pakistan Philippines Somalia Sri Lanka Vietnam <i>Norway</i>	n=5879 n=10 096 n=5069 n=8094 n=5235 n=6336 <i>n=868 832</i>
Study period	January 1995 - December 2010	January 1990 - December 2009		January 1990 - December 2009	
Main outcomes	Stillbirth Infant death	CS - Planned - Emergency		PTD - Spontaneous - Non-spontaneous	
Main exposure	Pakistan origin - immigrant or descendant Norwegian origin	Length of residence		Length of residence	
Association measure	Odds ratio (OR)	Risk ratio (RR)		Risk ratio (RR)	

Table 3.1 Overview of the studies included in the thesis. Study objectives, study populations and main variables in Study I - III.

Due to the limited number of births to descendants of Pakistani origin prior to 1995, Study I was limited to 1995 onwards. Studies II and III were limited to 1990 onwards due to limited numbers of births in some country groups prior to 1990 (see Figure 1.4). In all of the studies, only women with known exposures were included. Study I included births from gestational week 22 onwards (or, if missing, a birth weight of \geq 500 g) in accordance with the classification of the International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics.¹³¹ The sample in Study II was limited to primiparous women because previous delivery mode is a strong determinant of subsequent delivery modes. In Study III, stillbirths <28 gestational weeks were not included due to a change in the prognosis for very preterm infants over the study period. However, we included stillbirths \geq 28 weeks in the nominator and denominator to determine the true burden of PTD and due to similar pathophysiology of live births and stillbirths.¹³² In Study III, we further excluded cases with missing information about gestational length (3.8%) and cases with improbable Z-score values (differing from the majority standard by >4 standard deviations [SD]) (0.5%).¹³³

3.4 Outcome identification and verification

Study I: Stillbirth and infant death

Stillbirths included deaths occurring before or during labour and deaths with an unknown time of death. Infant deaths included live-born infants who died within 365 days after birth. Stillbirths and neonatal deaths during the first week after birth are reported to the MBRN by obstetric and pediatric units. The National Population Registry and the Cause of Death Registry, which are routinely linked to the MBRN, validate all births and postnatal deaths, including those not reported to the birth registry. These registries also provide information about deaths occurring during the first year of life. To obtain the correct denominator for offspring at risk, we calculated the stillbirth rate per 1000 fetuses/infants and the infant mortality per 1000 live-born infants.⁶⁴
Study II: CS

The registration of CSs with the MBRN changed slightly over the study period.¹³⁴ Between 1990 and 1998, information about CS was provided in text from, and additional information was in the form of procedure codes from the International Classification of Diseases (ICD), version 8. After 1998, planned CS was defined by a decision to perform the procedure a minimum of eight hours before the initiation of surgery.¹³⁵ Emergency CS was defined as a procedure that was begun fewer than eight hours after the decision was made. Of all of the caesarean deliveries in Study II, 5.5% (n=3458) were unspecified procedures. We reclassified unspecified procedures as planned if the initiation of delivery (birth start) was by CS; otherwise, procedures were recoded as emergencies. We did not have information about whether the CSs had been scheduled antenatally.

Study III: PTD

PTD was identified as delivery at <37 completed gestational weeks. We limited the sample to singleton births \geq 22 weeks. Stillbirths were included if the gestational length was \geq 28 weeks. Before December 1998, the MBRN defined gestational length as the time from the last menstrual period (LMP) to the day of delivery.¹³⁶ From 1999 onwards, biometric measurements from routine ultrasonography performed early in the second trimester were used to determine the gestational length. After 1999, the LMP was still noted, but it was used only as a secondary source of gestational length data when ultrasound data were missing (<3% of births during 1999–2010). Nonspontaneous PTD was defined as PTD with a birth start either by CS before labour began or by medical induction of labour, in the absence of preterm prelabour rupture of membranes. All other cases were classified as spontaneous PTD.

3.5 Exposure assessment

Immigrants, descendants and non-immigrants

Study subjects were classified as immigrants, descendants or non-immigrants based on information provided by Statistics Norway. The classification is mainly based on information on the country of birth and the country of descent.²¹

Maternal country of birth and descent

Information about the maternal country of birth and country of descent was provided by Statistics Norway.²¹ Multiple sources are used to generate these variables, and the data were nearly complete (<1% missing). The father's country of birth and descent are reported if information on the mother was missing.

Length of residence and age at immigration

Length of residence was calculated as the difference between the registered year of the first immigration to Norway and the year of delivery. Age at immigration was calculated as the difference between the mother's first immigration year and her year of birth; the year of arrival in Norway was considered the year of first legal immigration. The mathematical relationship among the time variables is illustrated in Figure 3.2. Women with different lengths of residence gave birth throughout the study period.



Figure 3.2 The relationships among the time variables in Study II and III.

3.6 Definitions of covariates

Based on previous knowledge and assumptions, we preselected covariates that were potentially associated with the outcomes. The covariates were evaluated as potential confounders or effect modifiers in the relation between exposures and outcomes.¹³⁷ The definitions and uses of covariates in the different studies are presented in Tables 3.2 and 3.3. The information was from the MBRN, except where stated otherwise.

Variable	Definition	I	II	III
Year of arrival*	Immigrants' year of first immigration		+	+
Age at migration*	Difference between the mother's first immigration year and mother's year of birth		+	+
Maternal education**	Maternal years of education at linkage	+	+	+
Year of birth	Year of infant's delivery	+	+	+
Maternal age	Maternal age at delivery in years	+	+	+
Parity	Number of previous children	+	+	+
Residency	Residence at time of birth	+		
Marital status	Marital status at time of birth	+		+
Level of birth facility	The annual number of births		+	+
Consanguinity	Reported consanguineous relation between infant's mother and father	+		+

Table 3.2 Sociodemographic and migration covariates in Studies I-III.

*From the National Population Register **From the National Educational Database.

Table 3.3 Maternal and fetal health-related covariates in Studies I-III.

Variable	Definition	I	II	III
Gestational length	Completed gestational week at birth	+	+	+
Gestational length	Ascertainment by LMP (1990-1998) or			+
ascertainment	ultrasound (1999-2010)			
Multiple gestation	Multiple gestations (two or more)		+	
Pregestational diabetes	Diabetes mellitus or the prescription of	+	+	+
	antidiabetic drugs (O 24, excl. O 24.4**)			
Gestational diabetes	Gestational diabetes in current pregnancy		+	+
	(0.24.4*)			
Preeclampsia/Pregnancy-	Hypertension, preeclampsia or eclampsia	+	+	+
induced hypertension	in current pregnancy			
Smoking*	Any smoking before/during pregnancy	+	+	+
Placenta previa	O 44*		+	+
Placenta abruption	O 45*		+	+
Dystocia (CS births)	Cephalopelvic disproportion or inadequate		+	
	labour (MBRN definition)			
Major birth defect	According to MBRN variable definition		+	+
Small-for-gestational age	Infant with Z-score ≤5 percentile ¹³³		+	+
Large-for-gestational age	Infant with Z-score ≥95 percentile ¹³³		+	+

*Data for smoking available from 1999 onwards. LMP=last menstrual period.** International Classification of Diseases version 8/10.¹³⁸

3.7 Statistical analyses

For all three studies, the means of continuous variables were compared using a t-test/analysis of variance (ANOVA), and categorical variables were compared using the χ^2 test. Trends were assessed with the Mantel-Haenszel test for trend (linear-by-linear association) and with univariable logistic regression.

To assess effect modification, we performed sensitivity analyses in the form of stratified or restricted analyses using subpopulations of the samples, such as among particular obstetric groups.¹³⁹ We did not attempt to construct predictive models for the outcomes, but we fitted multivariable regression models to provide statistical control of potential imbalances among covariates that might affect the estimators.¹⁴⁰ The models differed according to the outcome under study and are presented in detail in each paper. In the adjusted models, we included background factors and potential confounders based on previous knowledge, assumptions and the results of data analyses. Confounders were typically retained in the model if they changed the effect estimate >10%. All of the models were tested for clinically plausible interactions between the main exposures and covariates, and interaction terms were included in the models if the Wald coefficient was statistically significant. Fewer than 1% of cases had missing values; these cases were excluded from the multivariable analyses. A two-sided p-value less than 0.05 was considered significant. All of the analyses were performed using SPSS versions 18 and 20 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, US).

3.8 Ethical considerations

This research raises several ethical issues. First, immigrants to Norway are diverse. The selection of study populations for the different research questions was considered carefully to prevent averaging out real differences. There were substantial differences *between* the immigrant groups. However, we used labels such as "immigrants" versus "non-immigrant" to explore exposures common to migrants. There were also important disparities *within* populations originating from the same nation state or country. The registry data did not provide details on factors such as the immigrants' urban/rural origin, SEP in childhood, ethnicity, main language spoken, naturalisation status, profession, income or employment status. Thus, it is important to consider the known variations within groups when interpreting the results of this research.

Migrants are often excluded from large research cohorts designed to represent the inhabitants of a country.¹⁴¹ This decision is often based on practical reasons, such as migrants' lack of majority language proficiency, the added costs of translation and other factors. The results of our research might therefore counteract myths and reduce stigma. We believe that the benefits of better and updated knowledge, better policy decisions and potentially improved health outcomes outweigh a potential labelling effect. However, the communication of the results of studies such as this one should be nuanced.

IV SYNOPSIS OF RESULTS

4.1 Study I

Stillbirth and infant death among generations of Pakistani immigrant descent: a population-based study

We examined the risk of stillbirth and infant death in Norway between 1995 and 2010 births/infants to Pakistani-born women and Norwegian-born women of Pakistani descent. We linked records from the MBRN to immigration data from Statistics Norway. Women of Pakistani descent were classified as Pakistani-born (n=8814) or Norwegian-born (n=1801), and were compared to non-immigrants (n=712 430). The relative risk (RR) of stillbirth and infant death by country of descent and birth was estimated using binary logistic regression models, and the results are presented as odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs).

The risk of stillbirth was highest in the Pakistani-born group (7.4/1000, 95% CI 5.7–9.4) followed by the Norwegian-born (5.0/1000, 95% CI 1.7–8.3) and nonimmigrant groups (3.5/1000, 95% CI 3.3–3.6). Relative to non-immigrants, the risk of stillbirth was higher in both the Pakistani-born (OR 2.8, 95% CI 2.2–3.6) and Norwegian-born (OR 2.2, 95% CI 1.1–4.2) groups, after adjusting for year of birth, age, parity, and residence. For infant death, absolute risks were highest in the Pakistani-born group (6.9/1000, 95% CI 5.2–8.8), followed by the Norwegian-born (5.6/1000, 95% CI 2.7–10.2), and non-immigrant groups (2.9/1000, 95% CI 2.7–3.0). Relative to non-immigrants, the adjusted ORs for infant death were 2.8 (95% CI 2.1– 3.7) in the Pakistani-born group and 2.4 (95% CI 1.3–4.6), in the Norwegian-born group.

In summary, the risks of stillbirth and infant death in Norway between 1995 and 2010 were twice as high for the offspring of Pakistani- and Norwegian-born women of Pakistani descent compared with non-immigrants. Table 4.1 Relative risks of stillbirth and infant death according to maternal countries of birth and descent, Norway 1995–2010.

Country of descent	Unadju	Unadjusted		Adjusted ^a	
Stillbirth					
Norway	1.00		1.00		
Pakistan	2.01	1.60-2.54	2.69	2.11-3.43	
By country of birth					
Pakistani-born	2.13	1.66–2.73	2.77	2.15-3.59	
Norwegian-born	1.44	0.75-2.78	2.19	1.13-4.24	
Infant death					
Norway	1.00		1.00		
Pakistan	2.34	1.84–2.97	2.74	2.13-3.53	
By country of birth					
Pakistani-born	2.42	1.87–3.10	2.80	2.14-3.67	
Norwegian-born	1.96	1.05–3.66	2.44	1.30–4.58	

^aAdjusted for year of birth, mother's age, parity and residence.

4.2 Study II

Caesarean section by immigrants' length of residence in Norway: a populationbased study

We examined the risks of planned and emergency caesarean section (CS) according to immigrants' length of residence in Norway and compared the results to those of non-immigrants. We used birth and immigration data collected between 1990 and 2009 for first deliveries of 23 147 immigrants from ten countries and 385 306 non-immigrants. Countries were grouped as having low CS rates (<16%; Iraq, Pakistan, Poland, Turkey, Yugoslavia and Vietnam) or high CS rates (>22%; the Philippines, Somalia, Sri Lanka and Thailand). Using multivariable models, we estimated associations between length of residence and planned/emergency CS as RRs with 95% CIs.

In the immigrant group with low CS rates, only planned CS was independently associated with a longer length of residence. Compared with recent immigrants (<1 year), the risk of planned CS was 70% greater among immigrants with 2-5 years of residency (RR 1.70, 95% CI 1.19-2.42), and was doubled among immigrants with ≥ 6 years of residency. (RR 2.01, 95% CI 1.28-3.17). When comparing the same group to non-immigrants, immigrants with <2 years of residency had a lower risk of planned CS, whereas those with 2-5 years of residency had a greater risk of emergency CS.

In the immigrant group with high CS rates, the risk of planned CS was similar to that of non-immigrants, whereas the risk of emergency CS was 51–75% higher, irrespective of length of residency.

In summary, the risk of planned CS increased with increasing length of residence in immigrants with low CS rates, whereas the risk of emergency CS remained elevated in immigrants with high CS rates compared with non-immigrants, independent of length of residence.

45





Estimates were adjusted for the year of delivery, maternal age, size of the labour unit, gestational age, multiple gestation, pregestational diabetes, preeclampsia, placental disorders, SGA and LGA. The immigrant group with low CS rates included women from Iraq, Pakistan, Poland, Turkey, Vienam and the former Yugoslavia. The immigrant group with high CS rates included women from the Philippines, Somalia, Sri Lanka and Thailand.

4.3 Study III

Preterm subtypes by immigrants' length of residence in Norway:

a population-based study

We examined the risk of spontaneous and non-spontaneous PTD among six major immigrant groups according to length of residence and country of birth, and we compared the results to the risks in the non-immigrant population.

We used population-based birth and immigration data for 40 709 singleton births to immigrant women from Iraq, Pakistan, the Philippines, Somalia, Sri Lanka and Vietnam and 868 832 singleton births to non-immigrant women from 1990–2009. Associations between length of residence and subtypes of PTD were estimated as RRs with 95% CIs using multivariable models.

In total, there were 48 191 preterm births. Both the spontaneous and nonspontaneous PTD rates were higher among immigrants (4.8% and 2.0%, respectively) compared with non-immigrants (3.6% and 1.6%, respectively). Only nonspontaneous PTD was associated with a longer length of residence (p trend <0.001). Recent immigrants (<5 years of residence) and non-immigrants had similar risks of non-spontaneous PTD, whereas immigrants with lengths of residence of 5–9 years, 10–14 years and \geq 15 years had adjusted RRs of 1.18 (95% CI 1.03–1.35), 1.43 (95% CI 1.20–1.71) and 1.66 (95% CI 1.41–1.96), respectively. The association was reduced after further adjustments for maternal and infant morbidity. Conversely, the risk of spontaneous PTD among immigrants was not mitigated by length of residence, but at country level the risk was associated to a shorter duration of full-term pregnancies.

In summary, the risk of non-spontaneous PTD increased with increasing length of residence, which was due to the increased registration of maternal/infant morbidity; however, spontaneous PTD remained elevated regardless of length of residence, which was partly due to a shorter duration of term pregnancies in most minority groups.



Figure 4.4 Estimated risk ratios of spontaneous and non-spontaneous preterm delivery

(PTD) in non-immigrants (reference line) and immigrants according to length of residence.

Demographic factors included the year of delivery, maternal age, parity and size of the labour unit. Health factors included gestational and pregestational diabetes, hypertensive and placent disorders, smoking, small- and large-for-gestational age infants and major birth defects.

V DISCUSSION

5.1 Main results

This thesis is based on information about births occurring in Norway in the largest immigrant groups during a 20-year period. We compared the impact of length of residence on the risk of four adverse pregnancy outcomes in immigrant versus nonimmigrant populations, and according to the maternal country of birth. Our main findings were as follows:

- The risk of stillbirth and infant death in singleton offspring was approximately twice as high across generations of women of Pakistani descent compared with non-immigrants. First-cousin marriage and lower educational status were risk factors for stillbirth and infant death in offspring to women of both Pakistani and Norwegian descent. Although the risk of early mortality was higher in the offspring of two generations of Pakistani origin compared with non-immigrants, our findings translate to a small number of excess deaths.
- A longer length of residence was associated with increases in planned, but not emergency, CS among immigrants. The association depended on the absolute rate of CS. In the group of women from countries with low CS rates (Iraq, Pakistan, Poland, Turkey, former Yugoslav countries and Vietnam), the likelihood of planned CS reached the risk level for non-immigrants after two years of residence. The risk of emergency CS in this group did not vary across length of residence. Conversely, in the group of women from countries with high CS rates (the Philippines, Somalia, Sri Lanka and Thailand), the planned and emergency CS rates did not vary with the length of residence. The likelihood of a planned CS was similar to that of non-immigrants, and the

likelihood of an emergency CS was increased by 51–75%. Our expectation that the risk of caesarean subtypes among immigrants would converge with those of non-immigrants was not fulfilled.

• Immigrant' length of residence was associated with the risk of nonspontaneous PTD. Adjusting for health-related factors, such as diabetes and hypertensive disorders, reduced the effect size. Immigrant women were also more likely than non-immigrants to experience spontaneous PTD; however, this pattern was not mitigated by the length of residence, and it varied according to country of birth, primarily due to the shorter full-term gestational length in most minority groups. Our findings suggest that there was no convergence between the immigrants' risks of either subtype of PTD and the risk levels in the receiving population.

5.2 Methodological considerations

Observational studies are non-experimental by nature. We did not control or have information about all subject exposures. The associations that we identified could result from random events or bias in the study methods. However, genuine associations may exist. To judge whether the identified association truly does or does not exist, we must assess the *validity* of the study results, which can be defined as the degree to which the inferences drawn are warranted, considering the study methods and the characteristics of the participants.¹⁴² This evaluation is performed by assessing possible sources of error. In principle, two types of error, random and systematic error, must be considered; both can cause biased effect estimates.

In this section, we first discuss the overall strengths and limitations of the study methods. Second, we discuss the reliability and the internal and external validity of the study results.

5.2.1 Strengths and limitations of the study

The strengths of this study include the population-based design; all the subjects belonged to defined populations, which minimised selection bias. Furthermore, the registry design provided us with a relatively large sample size of foreign-born women compared with many clinical studies of migrants. This factor enabled us to study rare outcomes such as early mortality and subtypes of CS and PTD. Other relevant pregnancy cohorts either did not include non-Norwegian-speaking women (such as The MoBa cohort)¹⁴³ or include samples that are too small to evaluate outcomes according to length of residence and country of birth (STORK Groruddalen).¹⁴⁴ Finally, the quality and completeness of the national data on exposures and outcomes were high.

The present study also had limitations. First, the unique migration history of each country group caused a differential distribution of births across the duration of residence. Groups were somewhat artificially pooled together as "immigrants" (Studies II and III). However, the common exposure of interest in these analyses was the experience of migration. Second, for some analyses, the sample size limited further sub-analyses and stratification. Third, the registry data did not contain all of the desired information. We would have wished to consider potential confounders or effect modifiers such as maternal weight/height/body mass index (BMI), vitamin D intake, previous maternal morbidity and previous PTD; however, these data were not available. In addition, the registration of the indication(s) for obstetric interventions (caesarean sections and induction of labour) was incomplete. This deficiency is unfortunate because such information would have enabled us to further interpret the findings and draw more clinically relevant conclusions. Finally, it is important to distinguish an effect of country of birth from the confounding effect of SEP in migrant studies. Education was the only available SEP indicator in our data. Because information about the level of education was incomplete, information about other indicators (profession and income) would have helped. However, capturing SEP is more challenging in immigrant populations than in non-immigrants, even when using multiple indicators.³²

5.2.2 Random errors and reliability

Random errors, or flaws in the consistency and dependability of measurements, can reduce the *reliability* of data, or the degree to which the results can be repeated.¹⁴² Random errors are due to chance and lead to a loss of precision. With increasing sample sizes, the precision of an effect estimate (such as the RR or OR) increases. This phenomenon was observed in Study I; there was a wide 95% CI for the mortality estimates for the offspring of second-generation women, whereas the corresponding 95% CI for women of Norwegian origin was narrow. However, because we included all of the subjects in the study population, we were unable to increase our study sample.

5.2.3 Internal validity: confounding, information bias and selection bias

Systematic errors can *bias* or reduce the *internal validity* of the results, which can cause a systematic deviation in the results.¹⁴² Violations of internal validity can be categorised as *confounding*, *information bias* or *selection bias*.¹⁴⁵ The implications of each aspect for our study results are discussed below.

Confounding

An important shortcoming of observational studies is that the results may be vulnerable to confounding. Confounding is a distortion in the measurement of an exposure's effect because the effects of other variables are mistaken for, or combined with, the actual exposure effect.¹⁴⁵ The examination of pathways that explain differences in pregnancy outcomes according to length of residence and country of birth is not straightforward. Due to the nature of our data, we chose to use a conservative definition of confounders, implying associations to the exposure and the outcome but not assuming causal inference.¹³⁷ We considered the demographic covariates included in the models, such as maternal age, parity, size of birthing facility and residence, as background covariates. Conditioning or adjusting for baseline or background covariates is not thought to introduce bias.¹⁴⁶ Adjustments for

the year of delivery were important due to the secular changes in the outcome measures over the study period. Due to the mathematical creation of the length of residence (Figure 3.2), only two out of three of the desired covariates could be simultaneously included in the models (100% colinearity). To accommodate this limitation, we performed stratified and restricted analyses.

We cannot exclude the possibility that the adjusted analyses were biased by residual confounding, which is confounding that persists even after attempts to adjust for it.¹⁴² The categorisation of continuous variables could cause such residual confounding;¹⁴⁷ however, in such cases, we also performed analyses with continuous variables (including exponential terms), and we obtained the same pattern of results.

Our results could be confounded by unmeasured confounders. We would especially have wished to include information on maternal BMI, which is associated to several of the outcomes we studied; however, BMI was not registered by MBRN during the study period. We also did not have information on previous PTD and previous maternal morbidity. However, based on the information that was available to us, we find it unlikely that the demonstrated associations resulted from confounder bias.

We also examined the influence of *intermediate* variables, which are variables on the causal pathway between the exposure and outcome.¹⁴² We hypothesised that a portion of the effect of the exposures (length of residence and country of birth) would be primarily acting through intermediate factors. The intermediate factors considered in each study varied, but they mainly included maternal and fetal complications or morbidity, consanguinity and education. Education was not included in the final models due to several reasons. First, information about educational level was missing for more than one-third of the immigrants. Second, missing information was highest among recent immigrants due to registration practices. Third, there was a strong colinearity between educational categories and the country of birth for several outcomes. Finally, education level was not a predictor of some of the outcomes among migrants in the univariate analyses.

Adjusting for intermediate factors in regression models produced the controlled direct effect of the exposure. However, in the presence of unmeasured

53

confounding, as in our case, conditioning on an intermediate variable can introduce bias.¹⁴⁸ We therefore presented estimates with and without adjustments for intermediate factors and with careful interpretation.

Information bias

Information bias occurs when a flaw in the registration of an exposure, covariate or outcome variable results in different levels of quality of information among the compared groups.¹⁴² The main exposures, country of birth/descent and length of residence, were unlikely to be differentially registered. To reduce the impact of registration errors in gestational length and birth weight data, we excluded cases with improbable Z-values. However, our application of a majority growth standard (Study III) resulted in a differential likelihood of being classified as SGA and LGA among ethnic groups with short average gestations. Other covariates from the MBRN were primarily generated from tick boxes and were less likely to be misclassified compared with information in free text form.¹⁴⁹ Data from before 1999 were primarily recorded as free text. Data on maternal and fetal morbidity were not specifically registered for the current research purpose. However, the validation of pregestational diabetes¹⁵⁰ and hypertensive disorders¹⁵¹ was satisfactory, whereas gestational diabetes is likely under-registered in the MBRN.¹⁵²

With respect to the misclassification of outcome measures, due to the validation of the Cause of Death Registry, we have no reason to expect a differential misclassification of stillbirth or infant death according to immigrant status (Study I). For Studies II and III the information concerning birth start and delivery mode was generated from tick-boxes, and differential registration according to immigrant status or maternal country of birth was unlikely. A validation study of caesarean delivery using data from an early period showed satisfactory results, and we do not anticipate that these data would differ from data gathered using the more recent registry form.¹⁵³ The differential classification of PTD subtypes by migrant status finally did not influence the association measures. In addition, any misclassification of outcomes would underestimate rather than overestimate the associations found. It is therefore

unlikely that information bias significantly distorted the associations observed in this work.

Selection bias

Our sample included the total population of births that fulfilled the inclusion criteria. Therefore, there was no selection bias relevant to the internal validity of the study. Fewer than 1% of cases were excluded from the adjusted analyses due to missing information in the covariates, which is not likely to impact on the results.

After assessing the different aspects of internal validity, we conclude that bias is not likely to have had a major impact on the observed associations.

5.2.4 External validity

After assessing the internal validity, we should also determine whether the results are applicable to populations outside of the study sample, i.e., the *external validity*.¹⁴² Whether our findings can be generalised to immigrants in other countries remains unknown, especially for countries with different immigration and integration policies and without universal access to maternity care. Thus, caution should be exercised when generalising our findings outside of Northern Europe.

5.3 Interpretation of the results

Our findings did not fulfill our expectations of the approximation of risks between immigrants and the majority population. How did the risks differ, and what are the implications?

Outcomes with persisting differences across migration/time in residence

The risk of early mortality, emergency CS and spontaneous PTD were all elevated in particular immigrant groups compared with non-immigrants in this study. The differences in these risks persisted throughout the length of residence. However, we found large disparities between the country groups.

Our finding of a doubled risk for stillbirth and infant death among the firstgeneration Pakistani migrants is comparable to findings from a previous time period.⁶ Similar disparities in mortality risk have been found in Denmark, where this divergent risk did not change after adjustments for SEP.⁵⁹ However, these studies did not separately assess generational status. The similarities in educational level and choice of spouse that we found across generations indicate a limited acculturation of second-generation women who have given birth in Norway. A study of primarily UK born women of South Asian descent found a stillbirth rate (7.5/1000) similar to our estimate for the first-generation group.⁸⁶ The pattern of an elevated risk across generations in infant mortality is also similar to the pattern for infants born to women of Turkish descent in the Netherlands, among whom consanguineous marriage is common.¹⁷ However, this pattern differed from that found for infants born to women of Surinamese descent living in the Netherlands, for whom the risk of infant death decreased across generations. Our findings differ from US studies, where migration appears to be selected on qualities that contribute to favourable health outcomes for offspring, but where those qualities are later lost with exposure to the receiving country.^{16, 84, 154} Although early mortality risks are higher in women of Pakistani

origin than among the receiving population, the absolute risks are considerable lower than among women living in Pakistan.¹⁵⁵

The risk of spontaneous PTD was influenced by the shorter duration of pregnancy in most minority groups, which can explain the lack of change with length of residence. Thus, a portion of the high rates of spontaneous PTD was likely caused by the application of majority standards, leading to the admixture of "normal" pregnancies in the PTD group.^{156, 157} This finding is in agreement with a Dutch study that found elevated spontaneous PTD risk among African and South Asian women, compared to European white women, but the associated adverse outcomes were less severe.¹⁵⁸ Ethnic differences in PTD and birth weight appear to withstand short-term acculturative effects,¹⁵⁹ which is a likely result of fetal programming in an environment where the maternal pelvic size is compromised.¹⁶⁰ The large variations in spontaneous PTD rates, highlight the importance of classification by country of birth, and not broader regions, because the findings for countries within the same geographical world region (e.g.Vietnam and the Philippines) differed markedly.

Our expectations of a convergence in the likelihood of CS towards that of nonimmigrants with increasing length of residence was fulfilled in immigrant groups with low CS rates, but not in those with high CS rates. As with early mortality and spontaneous PTD, the risk of *emergency CS* did not change according to length of residence in any group. In one way, this finding is reassuring and signifies that women in need of an emergency CS have consistent access irrespective of their degree of acculturation. A recent Canadian study comparing emergency CS to planned CS or vaginal delivery found no effect of length of residence (cut-off <2 years).¹⁶¹ A UK study found a positive effect of length of residence on the risk of emergency CS in multiparous, but not primiparous, women.¹¹⁵ However, the high emergency CS rates among Somali, Thai, Philippine and Sri Lankan women expose these women to higher risks compared with a planned procedure. These groups also have elevated CS rates in other contexts.¹⁰⁶ Although intrapartum complications cannot generally be anticipated, it is likely that certain groups, such as Somali women, receive inadequate opportunities for planned CS, likely due to both medical and non-medical factors.^{112, 162}

Outcomes that changed across migration/time in residence

In contrast, among particular minority groups, we found that planned CS and nonspontaneous PTD increased with length of residence. Planned CS and nonspontaneous PTD are partly overlapping categories because some planned CSs will occur before term. However, the pattern of CS risk did not change when we excluded PTDs. The rapid change in the planned CS risk with increasing length of residence was independent of maternal and fetal morbidity and background characteristics. One reason for this finding could be that it represents increased access to CS due to maternal demand (without medical reasons). This phenomenon could be linked to patient factors, provider factors or both. Maternal choice has been responsible for an increasing proportion of CS among nulliparous women.¹⁶³ The clinical consensus in Norway is to control or reduce planned CS in the absence of medical indication. Immigrants could increasingly adopt attitudes about delivery mode that are prevalent in the majority population; this is likely facilitated through improved language command and knowledge as well as trust of the health system. The only country group that did not follow this pattern was Somali women, among whom the likelihood of having a planned CS decreased with length of residence. Although women of the Somali diaspora have been shown to prefer vaginal birth,^{54, 112, 164} this finding could also reflect the increasing uptake of elective deinfibulation before first births. Our findings indicate that antenatal identification of high-risk women and these women's compliance with undergoing planned procedures were low, but these rates changed over time in most groups. However, we cannot assume that the caesarean rate among non-immigrants is optimal and should be normative.

A recent systematic review found few differences between what immigrant and non-immigrant women want from maternity care; however immigrant women were less content with the care they received due to suboptimal levels of communication and understanding of care provision.¹⁶⁵ Immigrants with poor

58

majority language skills may be the least likely to voice and communicate their preferred delivery mode.¹² Women from countries with low CS rates included both immigrants with a labour immigration background (Poland) and refugees (Iraq and former Yugoslav countries); therefore we do not believe that the reason for migration is relevant to the above finding. A parallel finding has been reported from the primary care sector; an increased length of residence in Norway was associated with higher rates of planned versus emergency care services.¹⁶⁶ However, it is unknown how the use of antenatal care varies across the length of residence in Norway. To understand the reasons underlying the parallel increases in planned CS rates and time of residence and to determine whether this finding represents improvement in care, we would need better information about the indications for the procedure.

The risk of PTD increased across the length of residence in Norway. This trend is consistent with findings from Canada.^{19, 88} Contrary to the findings of a Danish study, recent immigrants were not at elevated risk of PTD.⁸⁹ The time since migration has been found to modify the socioeconomic influences on the PTD rates.¹⁶⁷ However, the increase in non-spontaneous PTD with length of residence found here was primarily driven by increases in maternal and infant complications. To determine whether the increase in preterm obstetric intervention is necessary and represents improved access to care, further studies on the indications for the procedures are needed. The iatrogenic or non-spontaneous preterm rate is more suitable than the overall PTD rate as an indicator for monitoring adverse infant outcomes among ethnic minority groups. Alternatively, adjustments for ethnic disparities in full-term pregnancy duration should be attempted.

Healthy migrants?

The healthy migrant effect was first described among immigrants to the United States and has since been observed in other, but not all, migrant populations.^{15, 154} Compared with the host population of Norway, we found that a healthy migrant effect was present in only a few subgroups, such as recent arrivals. One reason could be that

there is no scoring system for immigrants to Norway based on the characteristics desired by the host country, as is common elsewhere. In addition, compared with most high-income countries, Norway has very low rates of early mortality, preterm birth and overall CS rates.¹⁶⁸⁻¹⁷⁰ Immigrants in Norway report both more somatic and mental complaints than non-immigrants.¹⁷¹ The overall consumption of health services by immigrants is also higher.¹⁷² We found that the occurrence of diabetes in pregnancy was elevated in most immigrant groups, and women from Pakistan, Sri Lanka and India has been shown to have particularly high susceptibility to diabetes.¹⁵² We found that gestational and pregestational diabetes as well as hypertensive disorders were independently associated with length of residence. This finding has policy implications for the primary prevention of these conditions due to the health consequences for both mothers and infants.⁴² High maternal BMI could have contributed to several of the studied outcomes because obesity is a risk factor for stillbirth, CS and PTD.^{63, 173, 174} Although obesity is prevalent in certain immigrant groups,⁴³ we need to know more about the changes across time in Norway and particularly among women entering reproductive age.

The importance of classification of migrants

In this thesis, we classified immigrants by their country of birth.²⁸ As a result, we had limited sample sizes with less power for subanalyses and stratification. However, when we repeated the analyses using a classification based on larger groupings, such as geographical regions or World Bank classifications, the important differences were averaged out, which concealed intraregional variation. Furthermore, we classified migrants by length of residence as a proxy for exposure to the receiving country context. However, length of residence, although a good indicator of social inclusion, might not fully capture changes in health behaviour. Majority language proficiency might be a better parameter and could be used prospectively as a clinical risk factor. Finally, we chose not to classify migrants by their reason for migration. Although refugee status has been associated to poor infant outcomes in meta-analyses,⁵ the two largest refugee groups in our sample population were Somali and Iraqi women. The outcomes in these two groups differed markedly from each other. Therefore, it did

not make sense to incorporate the reason for migration in our classification, and findings that were stratified for this variable did not reveal real differences between the types of immigrant groups.

VI CONCLUSIONS

Immigration changes the overall population characteristics. This fact has only just begun to be reflected in health policies and strategies for the health of all individuals living in Norway.^{44, 45} Groups migrate from different countries and for a variety of reasons, and this dynamic is constantly changing. However, bearing these issues in mind, it is possible to draw the following conclusions from our findings:

- Immigrant populations in Norway have on average worse reproductive health outcomes than the non-immigrant population. Some of these differences persist regardless of length of residence and generational change, indicating that specific action is required to promote equitable health outcomes. However, the differences between immigrant subgroups are larger than those between immigrants and non-immigrants; therefore broad classifications are likely to obscure, rather than clarify, associations.
- Acculturation impacts, albeit not uniformly, adverse outcomes. The impact of length of residence and country of birth differed according to the outcome being studied.
- Indicators that capture different aspects of integration should be available as routine health information, including indicators that measure different aspects of SEP and language/communication skills.

• Stillbirth and infant death:

Clinical efforts to reduce early mortality among the offspring of women of Pakistani origin should focus on preconception counselling, early diagnosis and optimal management of fetal disorders among both Pakistani-born and Norwegian-born women.

• CS:

Although the current policy to reduce the planned CS rate is appropriate for non-immigrants, the policy focus for some immigrant groups (Somali, Philippine and Sri Lankan women) should be to reduce the proportion of emergency CSs.

• PTD:

Spontaneous PTD has limited value as an indicator of adverse pregnancy outcomes in minority groups due to the physiological variation in pregnancy duration among groups. The underlying reasons for preterm medical intervention, rather than reductions in the overall PTD rates, should be addressed.

VII FUTURE STUDIES

Several suggestions for future research have emerged from our studies. These suggestions are summarised below in the form of research questions:

General

- What is the impact of time in Norway on maternal pre-pregnancy BMI?
- Does a lack of majority language proficiency predict adverse pregnancy outcomes?
- What is the impact of registering migrants' language skills on the rate of interpreter use?

Stillbirth and infant death:

• What are the effects of the maternal country of birth and origin on the termination rate in pregnancies with a diagnosis of fetal pathology?

CS:

- What is the impact of language skills on the likelihood of planned CS?
- Does the association between maternal country of birth and CS vary according to language proficiency?
- What is the impact of immigrants' length of residence on the initiation of antenatal care?

PTD

- Can the date of birth be better predicted using first or second trimester biometry in minority ethnic groups?
- Are there ethnic differences in the indications for preterm obstetric intervention?
- What is the optimal gestational length according to maternal ethnicity?

VIII CLINICAL AND PUBLIC HEALTH IMPLICATIONS

- Obstetric and pediatric care providers should consider the sustained, elevated risks of adverse infant outcomes in offspring born to generations of Pakistani origin.
- Information about country of birth/origin should be made available through routine data collection. However, this information would be useful for clinical assessment, such as assessments of fetal growth, diagnosis of SGA and LGA and emergency CS risk, only if the associated risks were known.
- The routine registration of majority language skills at the first antenatal contact could identify groups at high risk of suboptimal care. Recent immigrant could be specifically targeted for primary prevention and improved healthy literacy.
- In groups at high risk of emergency CS, the threshold for planned CS should be carefully evaluated after individual assessment and counselling by culturally competent health professionals. A regular audit of caesarean deliveries at the institutional level would be helpful to identify obstacles to optimal care and to inform clinical decision making.
- The overall preterm rate is difficult to interpret in an ethnically mixed population; subtypes of PTD should be distinguished. Ethnic minority groups with durations of pregnancy that differ from the majority standard should be treated with different standards concerning viability in early gestation, therapeutic cut-offs, and the management of post-term pregnancy.

IX REFERENCES

- 1. Zlotnik H. Trends of international migration since 1965: what existing data reveal. *Int Migr.* 1999; 37:21-61.
- 2. Sobotka T. The rising importance of migrants for childbearing in Europe. *Demographic Research* 2008; 19:225-248.
- 3. Castles S. Globalization and migration: some pressing contradictions. *International Social Science Journal* 1998; 50:179-186.
- 4. Gagnon AJ, Zimbeck M, Zeitlin J, Alexander S, Blondel B, Buitendijk S *et al.* Migration to western industrialised countries and perinatal health: a systematic review. *Social Science and Medicine* 2009; 69:934-946.
- 5. Gissler M, Alexander S, Macfarlane A, Small R, Stray-Pedersen B, Zeitlin J *et al.* Stillbirths and infant deaths among migrants in industrialized countries. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 2009; 88:134-148.
- 6. Stoltenberg C, Magnus P, Lie RT, Daltveit AK, Irgens LM. Influence of consanguinity and maternal education on risk of stillbirth and infant death in Norway, 1967-1993. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1998; 148:452-459.
- 7. Vangen S, Stoltenberg C, Skjaerven R, Magnus P, Harris JR, Stray-Pedersen B. The heavier the better? Birthweight and perinatal mortality in different ethnic groups. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2002; 31:654-660.
- 8. Naimy Z, Grytten J, Monkerud L, Eskild A. Perinatal mortality in non-western migrants in Norway as compared to their countries of birth and to Norwegian women. *BMC.Public Health* 2013; 13:37.
- 9. Vangen S, Stoltenberg C, Skrondal A, Magnus P, Stray-Pedersen B. Cesarean section among immigrants in Norway. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 2000; 79:553-558.
- 10. Binder P, Johnsdotter S, Essen B. Conceptualising the prevention of adverse obstetric outcomes among immigrants using the 'three delays' framework in a high-income context. *Social Science and Medicine* 2012; 75:2028-2036.
- 11. Binder P, Borne Y, Johnsdotter S, Essen B. Shared language is essential: communication in a multiethnic obstetric care setting. *J.Health Commun.* 2012; 17:1171-1186.
- 12. Saastad E, Vangen S, Froen JF. Suboptimal care in stillbirths a retrospective audit study. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 2007; 86:444-450.
- 13. Lopez-Class M, Castro FG, Ramirez AG. Conceptions of acculturation: a review and statement of critical issues. *Social Science and Medicine* 2011; 72:1555-1562.

- 14. Urquia ML, O'Campo PJ, Heaman MI. Revisiting the immigrant paradox in reproductive health: the roles of duration of residence and ethnicity. *Social Science and Medicine* 2012; 74:1610-1621.
- 15. Guendelman S, Gould JB, Hudes M, Eskenazi B. Generational differences in perinatal health among the Mexican American population: findings from HHANES 1982-84. *American Journal of Public Health* 1990; 80 Suppl:61-65.
- 16. Guendelman S, English PB. Effect of United States Residence on Birth Outcomes among Mexican Immigrants: An Exploratory Study. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1995; 142:S30-S38.
- 17. Troe EJ, Kunst AE, Bos V, Deerenberg IM, Joung IM, Mackenbach JP. The effect of age at immigration and generational status of the mother on infant mortality in ethnic minority populations in The Netherlands. *Eur.J.Public Health* 2007; 17:134-138.
- 18. Callister LC, Birkhead A. Acculturation and perinatal outcomes in Mexican immigrant childbearing women: an integrative review. *Journal of Perinatal and Neonatal Nursing* 2002; 16:22-38.
- 19. Urquia ML, Glazier RH, Blondel B, Zeitlin J, Gissler M, Macfarlane A *et al.* International migration and adverse birth outcomes: role of ethnicity, region of origin and destination. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 2010; 64:243-251.
- 20. Urquia ML, Gagnon AJ. Glossary: migration and health. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 2011; 65:467-472.
- Statistics Norway. Immigration and Immigrants 2010. [http://www.ssb.no/english/subjects/02/sa_innvand_en/sa122/sa122_en.pdf]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- 22. United Nations Development Programme. Human Development Index 2013. [http://hdr.undp.org/en/data]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- World Bank. How we classify countries. [http://data.worldbank.org/about/country-classifications]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- 24. Aspinall PJ. The conceptual basis of ethnic group terminology and classifications. *Social Science and Medicine* 1997; 45:689-698.
- Chaturvedi N, McKeigue PM. Methods for epidemiological surveys of ethnic minority groups. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 1994; 48:107-111.
- 26. Senior PA, Bhopal R. Ethnicity as a variable in epidemiological research. *BMJ* 1994; 309:327-330.

- 27. Aspinall PJ. Who is Asian? A category that remains contested in population and health research. *Journal of Public Health Medicine* 2003; 25:91-97.
- 28. Gagnon AJ, Zimbeck M, Zeitlin J. Migration and perinatal health surveillance: an international Delphi survey. *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology* 2010; 149:37-43.
- 29. Fennelli K. Health and Well-being of Immigrants: The Healthy Migrant Phenomenon. In: *Immigrant Medicine*. Editors: Walker PF, Barnett ED. Sauders Elsevier, 2007; pp. 19-26.
- 30. Østby L. Norway's population groups of developing countries' origin: change and integration. Report 10/2013, Statistics Norway.
- Henriksen, K. Unge som innvandret før skolealder hvor like er de norskfødte med innvandrerforeldre? [Norwegian] Report 35/2009, Statistics Norway. [http://www.ssb.no/emner/00/02/notat_200935/notat_200935.pdf]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- 32. Nielsen SS, Hempler NF, Krasnik A. Issues to consider when measuring and applying socioeconomic position quantitatively in immigrant health research. *Int J.Environ.Res.Public Health* 2013; 10:6354-6365.
- Gillet E, Saerens B, Martens G, Cammu H. Fetal and infant health outcomes among immigrant mothers in Flanders, Belgium. *Int J.Gynaecol.Obstet.* 2014; 124:128-133.
- 34. Balchin I, Steer PJ. Race, prematurity and immaturity. *Early Human Development* 2007; 83:749-754.
- 35. David R, Collins J, Jr. Disparities in infant mortality: what's genetics got to do with it? *American Journal of Public Health* 2007; 97:1191-1197.
- 36. Barker DJP. *The fetal and infant origins of adult disease*. United Kingdom: BMJ Publishing Group, 1992.
- Hawkins SS, Lamb K, Cole TJ, Law C. Influence of moving to the UK on maternal health behaviours: prospective cohort study. *BMJ* 2008; 336:1052-1055.
- 38. Oza-Frank R, Stephenson R, Narayan KM. Diabetes prevalence by length of residence among US immigrants. *J.Immigr.Minor.Health* 2011; 13:1-8.
- 39. Goel MS, McCarthy EP, Phillips RS, Wee CC. Obesity among US immigrant subgroups by duration of residence. *JAMA* 2004; 292:2860-2867.
- 40. Koya DL, Egede LE. Association between length of residence and cardiovascular disease risk factors among an ethnically diverse group of

United States immigrants. *Journal of General Internal Medicine* 2007; 22:841-846.

- 41. Bittles AH, Black ML. The impact of consanguinity on neonatal and infant health. *Early Human Development* 2010; 86:737-741.
- 42. Dabelea D, Hanson RL, Lindsay RS, Pettitt DJ, Imperatore G, Gabir MM *et al.* Intrauterine exposure to diabetes conveys risks for type 2 diabetes and obesity: a study of discordant sibships. *Diabetes* 2000; 49:2208-2211.
- 43. Kumar BN, Grøtvedt L, Meyer HE, Søgaard AJ, and Strand BH. The Oslo Immigrant Health Profile. [http://www.fhi.no/dav/920ab22ad5.pdf]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- 44. Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care Services. National Strategy for Immigrants' Health 2013-2017.[Norwegian] [http://www.regjeringen.no/pages/38431748/Likeverdige_tjenester.pdf]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- 45. Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care Services. National health plan for Norway (2007-2010). [http://www.regjeringen.no/upload/HOD/National%20health%20plan_eng_06 052007.pdf]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- 46. Statistics Norway. Regional projections of the immigrant population 2011-2040. [http://www.ssb.no/emner/02/03/rapp_201211.pdf]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- 47. Castles S. International migration at the beginning of the twenty-first century: global trends and issues. *International Social Science Journal* 2000; 52:269-+.
- World Health Organization. Health of Migrants. [http://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf_files/A61/A61_R17-en.pdf]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- 49. Wilcox AJ. Stillbirth and infant mortality. In: *Fertility and Pregnancy: An epidemiological perspective*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2010; pp. 164-182.
- 50. Wilcox AJ. Gestational age and preterm delivery. In: *Fertility and Pregnancy: An epidemiological perspective*. New York: Oxford University Press, 2010; pp. 192-210.
- 51. Cousens S, Blencowe H, Stanton C, Chou D, Ahmed S, Steinhardt L *et al.* National, regional, and worldwide estimates of stillbirth rates in 2009 with trends since 1995: a systematic analysis. *Lancet* 2011; 377:1319-1330.
- 52. World Health Organization. Neonatal and Perinatal Mortality. Country, Regional and Global estimates [updated 2006].

[http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2006/9241563206_eng.pdf]. Accessed 26 May 2014.

- 53. Bollini P, Pampallona S, Wanner P, Kupelnick B. Pregnancy outcome of migrant women and integration policy: a systematic review of the international literature. *Soc Sci Med* 2009; 68:452-461.
- 54. Small R, Gagnon A, Gissler M, Zeitlin J, Bennis M, Glazier R *et al.* Somali women and their pregnancy outcomes postmigration: data from six receiving countries. *BJOG.* 2008; 115:1630-1640.
- 55. Essen B, Hanson BS, Ostergren PO, Lindquist PG, Gudmundsson S. Increased perinatal mortality among sub-Saharan immigrants in a city-population in Sweden. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 2000; 79:737-743.
- 56. Ekeus C, Cnattingius S, Essen B, Hjern A. Stillbirth among foreign-born women in Sweden. *Eur.J.Public Health* 2011; 21:788-792.
- 57. Malin M, Gissler M. Maternal care and birth outcomes among ethnic minority women in Finland. *BMC.Public Health* 2009; 9:84.
- 58. Racape J, De SM, Alexander S, Dramaix M, Buekens P, Haelterman E. High perinatal mortality rate among immigrants in Brussels. *Eur.J.Public Health* 2010; 20:536-542.
- 59. Villadsen SF, Mortensen LH, Andersen AM. Ethnic disparity in stillbirth and infant mortality in Denmark 1981-2003. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 2009; 63:106-112.
- 60. Ravelli AC, Tromp M, Eskes M, Droog JC, van der Post JA, Jager KJ *et al.* Ethnic differences in stillbirth and early neonatal mortality in The Netherlands. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 2011; 65:696-701.
- 61. Li Q, Keith LG. The differential association between education and infant mortality by nativity status of Chinese American mothers: a life-course perspective. *American Journal of Public Health* 2011; 101:899-908.
- 62. Flenady V, Koopmans L, Middleton P, Froen JF, Smith GC, Gibbons K *et al.* Major risk factors for stillbirth in high-income countries: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet* 2011; 377:1331-1340.
- 63. Froen JF, Arnestad M, Frey K, Vege A, Saugstad OD, Stray-Pedersen B. Risk factors for sudden intrauterine unexplained death: epidemiologic characteristics of singleton cases in Oslo, Norway, 1986-1995. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2001; 184:694-702.
- 64. Kramer MS, Liu S, Luo Z, Yuan H, Platt RW, Joseph KS. Analysis of perinatal mortality and its components: time for a change? *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2002; 156:493-497.

- 65. World Health Organization. World Health Statistics 2013. [http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/82058/1/WHO_HIS_HSI_13.1_eng.p df]. Accessed 23 May 2014.
- 66. Arntzen A, Samuelsen SO, Daltveit AK, Stoltenberg C. Post-neonatal mortality in Norway 1969-95: a cause-specific analysis. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2006; 35:1083-1089.
- 67. Ananth CV, Joseph KS, Oyelese Y, Demissie K, Vintzileos AM. Trends in preterm birth and perinatal mortality among singletons: United States, 1989 through 2000. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2005; 105:1084-1091.
- 68. Lawn JE, Cousens S, Zupan J. 4 million neonatal deaths: when? Where? Why? *Lancet* 2005; 365:891-900.
- 69. Liu L, Johnson HL, Cousens S, Perin J, Scott S, Lawn JE *et al.* Global, regional, and national causes of child mortality: an updated systematic analysis for 2010 with time trends since 2000. *Lancet* 2012; 379:2151-2161.
- 70. US Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2020: Maternal, infant and child health [updated 2013]. [http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topicsobjectives2020/objectiveslist.aspx? topicId=26]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- Teune MJ, Bakhuizen S, Gyamfi BC, Opmeer BC, van Kaam AH, van Wassenaer AG *et al.* A systematic review of severe morbidity in infants born late preterm. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2011; 205:374-379.
- 72. Escobar GJ, Clark RH, Greene JD. Short-term outcomes of infants born at 35 and 36 weeks gestation: we need to ask more questions. *Seminars in Perinatology* 2006; 30:28-33.
- Papiernik E, Alexander GR, Paneth N. Racial differences in pregnancy duration and its implications for perinatal care. *Medical Hypotheses* 1990; 33:181-186.
- 74. Patel RR, Steer P, Doyle P, Little MP, Elliott P. Does gestation vary by ethnic group? A London-based study of over 122,000 pregnancies with spontaneous onset of labour. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 2004; 33:107-113.
- 75. Kierans WJ, Joseph KS, Luo ZC, Platt R, Wilkins R, Kramer MS. Does one size fit all? The case for ethnic-specific standards of fetal growth. *BMC.Pregnancy.Childbirth.* 2008; 8:1.
- 76. Hutcheon JA, Zhang X, Platt RW, Cnattingius S, Kramer MS. The case against customised birthweight standards. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology* 2011; 25:11-16.

- 77. Forna F, Jamieson DJ, Sanders D, Lindsay MK. Pregnancy outcomes in foreign-born and US-born women. *International Journal of Gynaecology and Obstetrics* 2003; 83:257-265.
- 78. Shiono PH, Klebanoff MA. Ethnic differences in preterm and very preterm delivery. *American Journal of Public Health* 1986; 76:1317-1321.
- 79. Stoltenberg C, Magnus P. Children with low birth weight and low gestational age in Oslo, Norway: immigration is not the cause of increasing proportions. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 1995; 49:588-593.
- 80. Zeitlin J, Bucourt M, Rivera L, Topuz B, Papiernik E. Preterm birth and maternal country of birth in a French district with a multiethnic population. *BJOG.* 2004; 111:849-855.
- 81. Rasmussen F, Oldenburg CE, Ericson A, Gunnarskog J. Preterm birth and low birthweight among children of Swedish and immigrant women between 1978 and 1990. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology* 1995; 9:441-454.
- 82. Schaaf JM, Liem SM, Mol BW, Abu-Hanna A, Ravelli AC. Ethnic and racial disparities in the risk of preterm birth: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Perinatology* 2013; 30:433-450.
- 83. Goedhart G, van EM, van der Wal MF, Bonsel GJ. Ethnic differences in preterm birth and its subtypes: the effect of a cumulative risk profile. *BJOG*. 2008; 115:710-719.
- 84. Cabral H, Fried LE, Levenson S, Amaro H, Zuckerman B. Foreign-born and US-born black women: differences in health behaviors and birth outcomes. *American Journal of Public Health* 1990; 80:70-72.
- 85. Berkowitz GS, Blackmore-Prince C, Lapinski RH, Savitz DA. Risk factors for preterm birth subtypes. *Epidemiology* 1998; 9:279-285.
- 86. Balchin I, Whittaker JC, Patel RR, Lamont RF, Steer PJ. Racial variation in the association between gestational age and perinatal mortality: prospective study. *BMJ* 2007; 334:833.
- 87. Hyman I, Dussault G. The effect of acculturation on low birthweight in immigrant women. *Can.J.Public Health* 1996; 87:158-162.
- Urquia ML, Frank JW, Moineddin R, Glazier RH. Immigrants' duration of residence and adverse birth outcomes: a population-based study. *BJOG*. 2010; 117:591-601.
- Pedersen GS, Mortensen LH, Gerster M, Rich-Edwards J, Andersen AM. Preterm birth and birthweight-for-gestational age among immigrant women in Denmark 1978-2007: a nationwide registry study. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology* 2012; 26:534-542.
- 90. Savitz DA, Dole N, Herring AH, Kaczor D, Murphy J, Siega-Riz AM *et al.* Should spontaneous and medically indicated preterm births be separated for studying aetiology? *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology* 2005; 19:97-105.
- 91. Muglia LJ, Katz M. The enigma of spontaneous preterm birth. *N.Engl.J.Med* 2010; 362:529-535.
- 92. Morken NH, Kallen K, Jacobsson B. Predicting risk of spontaneous preterm delivery in women with a singleton pregnancy. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology* 2014; 28:11-22.
- 93. Thompson JM, Irgens LM, Rasmussen S, Daltveit AK. Secular trends in socio-economic status and the implications for preterm birth. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology* 2006; 20:182-187.
- 94. Vangen S, Stoltenberg C, Holan S, Moe N, Magnus P, Harris JR *et al.* Outcome of pregnancy among immigrant women with diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 2003; 26:327-332.
- 95. Wahlberg A, Roost M, Haglund B, Hogberg U, Essen B. Increased risk of severe maternal morbidity (near-miss) among immigrant women in Sweden: a population register-based study. *BJOG*. 2013; 120:1605-1611.
- 96. Lewis G (ed). The confidential enquiry into maternal and child health. Saving mother's lives: reviewing maternal deaths to make motherhood safer 2003-2005. The seventh report on confidential enquiries into maternity deaths in the United Kingdom. London, 2007.
- 97. van RJ, Schuitemaker NW, Brand R, van Dongen PW, Bennebroek GJ. Substandard care in immigrant versus indigenous maternal deaths in The Netherlands. *BJOG*. 2002; 109:212-213.
- 98. Esscher A, Haglund B, Hogberg U, Essen B. Excess mortality in women of reproductive age from low-income countries: a Swedish national register study. *Eur.J.Public Health* 2013; 23:274-279.
- 99. Esscher A, Binder-Finnema P, Bodker B, Hogberg U, Mulic-Lutvica A, Essen B. Suboptimal care and maternal mortality among foreign-born women in Sweden: maternal death audit with application of the 'migration three delays' model. *BMC Pregnancy.Childbirth*. 2014; 14:141.
- 100. Vikanes A, Grjibovski AM, Vangen S, Magnus P. Length of residence and risk of developing hyperemesis gravidarum among first generation immigrants to Norway. *Eur.J.Public Health* 2008; 18:460-465.
- 101. WHO, UNFPA, UNICEF, Mailman School of Public Health. Averting maternal death and disability. *Monitoring emergency obstetric care: a handbook*. Geneva: World Health Organization, 2009.

- 102. Gibbons L, Belizàn J, Lauer J, Betran, A. P., Merialdi, M., and Althabe F. The global numbers and costs of additionally needed and unnecessary caesarean sections performed per year: overuse as a barrier to universal coverage. [http://www.who.int/healthsystems/topics/financing/healthreport/30Csectioncosts.pdf]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- 103. Katikireddi SV, Gorman DR, Leyland AH. A comparison of trends in caesarean section rates in former communist (transition) countries and other European countries. *Eur.J.Public Health* 2013; 23:381-383.
- Ronsmans C, Holtz S, Stanton C. Socioeconomic differentials in caesarean rates in developing countries: a retrospective analysis. *Lancet* 2006; 368:1516-1523.
- 105. Gould JB, Davey B, Stafford RS. Socioeconomic differences in rates of cesarean section. *New England Journal of Medicine* 1989; 321:233-239.
- 106. Merry L, Small R, Blondel B, Gagnon AJ. International migration and caesarean birth: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC.Pregnancy.Childbirth.* 2013; 13:27.
- 107. Gagnon AJ, Van HA, Merry L, George A, Saucier JF, Stanger E et al. Cesarean section rate differences by migration indicators. Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics 2012.
- 108. Rio I, Castello A, Barona C, Jane M, Mas R, Rebagliato M *et al.* Caesarean section rates in immigrant and native women in Spain: the importance of geographical origin and type of hospital for delivery. *Eur.J.Public Health* 2010; 20:524-529.
- 109. Vangen S, Stray-Pedersen B, Skrondal A, Magnus P, Stoltenberg C. High risk of cesarean section among ethnic Filipinos: an effect of the paternal contribution to birthweight? Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica 2003; 82:192-193.
- 110. Minsart AF, De SM, Englert Y, Buekens P. Classification of cesarean sections among immigrants in Belgium. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 2013; 92:204-209.
- 111. Ibison JM. Ethnicity and mode of delivery in 'low-risk' first-time mothers, East London, 1988-1997. *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology* 2005; 118:199-205.
- 112. Essen B, Johnsdotter S, Hovelius B, Gudmundsson S, Sjoberg NO, Friedman J *et al.* Qualitative study of pregnancy and childbirth experiences in Somalian women resident in Sweden. *BJOG.* 2000; 107:1507-1512.
- 113. Ismail KI, Marchocki Z, Brennan DJ, O'Donoghue K. Intrapartum caesarean rates differ significantly between ethnic groups--relationship to induction.

European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology 2011; 158:214-219.

- 114. Walsh J, Mahony R, Armstrong F, Ryan G, O'Herlihy C, Foley M. Ethnic variation between white European women in labour outcomes in a setting in which the management of labour is standardised-a healthy migrant effect? *BJOG.* 2011; 118:713-718.
- 115. Essex H, Green J, Baston H, Pickett K. Which women are at an increased risk of a caesarean section or an instrumental vaginal birth in the UK: an exploration within the Millennium Cohort Study. *BJOG.* 2013.
- 116. Villar J, Carroli G, Zavaleta N, Donner A, Wojdyla D, Faundes A *et al.* Maternal and neonatal individual risks and benefits associated with caesarean delivery: multicentre prospective study. *BMJ* 2007; 335:1025.
- 117. Hager RM, Daltveit AK, Hofoss D, Nilsen ST, Kolaas T, Oian P *et al.* Complications of cesarean deliveries: rates and risk factors. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2004; 190:428-434.
- 118. Al-Zirqi I, Vangen S, Forsen L, Stray-Pedersen B. Prevalence and risk factors of severe obstetric haemorrhage. *BJOG.* 2008; 115:1265-1272.
- 119. Daltveit AK, Tollanes MC, Pihlstrom H, Irgens LM. Cesarean delivery and subsequent pregnancies. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2008; 111:1327-1334.
- 120. Landon MB, Hauth JC, Leveno KJ, Spong CY, Leindecker S, Varner MW *et al.* Maternal and perinatal outcomes associated with a trial of labor after prior cesarean delivery. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2004; 351:2581-2589.
- 121. Jauniaux E, Jurkovic D. Placenta accreta: pathogenesis of a 20th century iatrogenic uterine disease. *Placenta* 2012; 33:244-251.
- 122. Brockmann G, Kjeldstadli K. A history of immigration. The case of Norway 900-2000. Oslo: Universitetsforlaget, 2008.
- 123. Lien, IL. *Two countries and one future dilemmas for Pakistani migrants social and labour market adaptation*. Oslo: Institute of Social Anthropology, University of Oslo, 1982.
- 124. Statistics Norway. Immigrant groups living in Norway [updated 2012]. [http://www.ssb.no/en/befolkning/artikler-ogpublikasjoner/_attachment/103718?_ts=13d6d5b6cc8]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- 125. Statistics Norway. Personer med flyktningbakgrunn 1.januar 2013 [Norwegian]. [https://www.ssb.no/flyktninger]. Accessed 26 May 2014.

- 126. Grjibovski AM, Magnus P, Stoltenberg C. Decrease in consanguinity among parents of children born in Norway to women of Pakistani origin: a registry-based study. *Scand.J.Public Health* 2009; 37:232-238.
- 127. Lappegård, T. Between two cultures: fertility patterns among immigrant women to Norway. 2000. Statistics Norway.
- Bergsjo P, Bakketeig LS. Perinatal epidemiology. In: *International Encyclopedia of Public Health*. Editors: Heggenhougen K, Quah S. San Diego: Academin Press, 2008; pp. 45-53.
- Norwegian Ministry of Children, Equality and Social Inclusion. Immigration and immigrant in the Norwegian population statistics: Country of origin as a proxy for ethnic origin. [http://www.regjeringen.no/upload/BLD/Demographic%20statistics.pdf]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- Statistics Norway. Norwegian Standard Classification of Education. [revised 2000]. [http://www.ssb.no/emner/04/09/nos_c617/nos_c676.pdf]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- 131. The International Federation of Gynecology and Obstetrics. [http://www.figo.org]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- 132. Goldenberg RL, Gravett MG, Iams J, Papageorghiou AT, Waller SA, Kramer M *et al.* The preterm birth syndrome: issues to consider in creating a classification system. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2012; 206:113-118.
- 133. Skjaerven R, Gjessing HK, Bakketeig LS. Birthweight by gestational age in Norway. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 2000; 79:440-449.
- 134. Norwegian Institute of Public Health. Variable definition report MBRN_2011Q3 [Norwegian]. [http://www.fhi.no/dokumenter/2d5e4f80d0.pdf]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- 135. The Medical Birth Registry of Norway. Veiledning for utfylling av melding til Medisinsk fødselsregister [Norwegian] [updated 2004]. [http://www.fhi.no/dav/4BE814930D.pdf]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- 136. Bergsjo P, Denman DW, III, Hoffman HJ, Meirik O. Duration of human singleton pregnancy. A population-based study. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 1990; 69:197-207.
- 137. Hernan MA, Hernandez-Diaz S, Werler MM, Mitchell AA. Causal knowledge as a prerequisite for confounding evaluation: an application to birth defects epidemiology. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2002; 155:176-184.

- 138. WHO. International Classification of Diseases (ICD) [updated 2014]. [http://www.who.int/classifications/icd/en/]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- 139. Robson MS. Classification of caesarean sections. *Fetal and Maternal Medicine Review* 2001; 12:23-39.
- 140. Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. Interpretation of the fitted logistic regression model. In: *Applied logistic regression*. New York: Wiley, 2000.
- 141. Abebe D.S.A and Norwegian Centre for Minority Health Research. Public Health Challenges of Immigrants in Norway: A Research Review. 2010.
- 142. Porta M. A dictionary of epidemiology. New York: Oxford University Press, 2008.
- 143. Magnus P, Irgens LM, Haug K, Nystad W, Skjaerven R, Stoltenberg C. Cohort profile: the Norwegian Mother and Child Cohort Study (MoBa). *Int J.Epidemiol.* 2006; 35:1146-1150.
- 144. Jenum AK, Sletner L, Voldner N, Vangen S, Morkrid K, Andersen LF *et al.* The STORK Groruddalen research programme: A population-based cohort study of gestational diabetes, physical activity, and obesity in pregnancy in a multiethnic population. Rationale, methods, study population, and participation rates. *Scand.J.Public Health* 2010; 38:60-70.
- 145. Rothman KJ, Greenland S, and Lash TL. Validity in epidemiologic studies.In: *Modern epidemiology*. 3rd edition. Philadephia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2008; pp. 128-147.
- 146. VanderWeele TJ, Mumford SL, Schisterman EF. Conditioning on intermediates in perinatal epidemiology. *Epidemiology* 2012; 23:1-9.
- 147. Royston P, Altman DG, Sauerbrei W. Dichotomizing continuous predictors in multiple regression: a bad idea. *Stat.Med* 2006; 25:127-141.
- 148. Cole SR, Hernan MA. Fallibility in estimating direct effects. *Int J.Epidemiol.* 2002; 31:163-165.
- Cnattingius S, Ericson A, Gunnarskog J, Kallen B. A quality study of a medical birth registry. *Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine* 1990; 18:143-148.
- 150. Engeland A, Bjorge T, Daltveit AK, Vollset SE, Furu K. Validation of disease registration in pregnant women in the Medical Birth Registry of Norway. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 2009; 88:1083-1089.
- 151. Thomsen LC, Klungsoyr K, Roten LT, Tappert C, Araya E, Baerheim G *et al.* Validity of the diagnosis of pre-eclampsia in the Medical Birth Registry of Norway. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 2013; 92:943-950.

- 152. Jenum AK, Morkrid K, Sletner L, Vangen S, Torper JL, Nakstad B *et al.* Impact of ethnicity on gestational diabetes identified with the WHO and the modified International Association of Diabetes and Pregnancy Study Groups criteria: a population-based cohort study. *European Journal of Endocrinology* /*European Federation of Endocrine Societies* 2012; 166:317-324.
- 153. Borthen I, Lossius P, Skjaerven R, Bergsjo P. Changes in frequency and indications for cesarean section in Norway 1967-1984. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 1989; 68:589-593.
- 154. Landale NS, Gorman BK, Oropesa RS. Selective migration and infant mortality among Puerto Ricans. *Matern.Child Health J.* 2006; 10:351-360.
- 155. National Institute of Population Studies (NIPS), Pakistan and Macro International Inc. *Pakistan Demographic and Health Survey 2006-07*. Islamabad, Pakistan: National Institute of Population Studies and Macro International Inc., 2008.
- 156. Dietz PM, England LJ, Callaghan WM, Pearl M, Wier ML, Kharrazi M. A comparison of LMP-based and ultrasound-based estimates of gestational age using linked California livebirth and prenatal screening records. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology* 2007; 21 Suppl 2:62-71.
- 157. Blondel B, Morin I, Platt RW, Kramer MS, Usher R, Breart G. Algorithms for combining menstrual and ultrasound estimates of gestational age: consequences for rates of preterm and postterm birth. *BJOG*. 2002; 109:718-720.
- 158. Schaaf JM, Mol BW, Abu-Hanna A, Ravelli AC. Ethnic disparities in the risk of adverse neonatal outcome after spontaneous preterm birth. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica* 2012; 91:1402-1408.
- 159. Troe EJ, Raat H, Jaddoe VW, Hofman A, Looman CW, Moll HA *et al.* Explaining differences in birthweight between ethnic populations. The Generation R Study. *BJOG*. 2007; 114:1557-1565.
- 160. Lau C, Rogers JM, Desai M, Ross MG. Fetal programming of adult disease: implications for prenatal care. *Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2011; 117:978-985.
- 161. Gagnon AJ, Merry L, Haase K. Predictors of emergency cesarean delivery among international migrant women in Canada. *Int J.Gynaecol.Obstet.* 2013.
- 162. Fairley L, Dundas R, Leyland AH. The influence of both individual and area based socioeconomic status on temporal trends in Caesarean sections in Scotland 1980-2000. BMC.Public Health 2011; 11:330.
- 163. Kolas T, Hofoss D, Daltveit AK, Nilsen ST, Henriksen T, Hager R *et al.* Indications for cesarean deliveries in Norway. *American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology* 2003; 188:864-870.

- 164. Vangen S, Johansen RE, Sundby J, Traeen B, Stray-Pedersen B. Qualitative study of perinatal care experiences among Somali women and local health care professionals in Norway. *European Journal of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Biology* 2004; 112:29-35.
- 165. Small R, Roth C, Raval M, Shafiei T, Korfker D, Heaman M *et al.* Immigrant and non-immigrant women's experiences of maternity care: a systematic and comparative review of studies in five countries. *BMC Pregnancy.Childbirth.* 2014; 14:152.
- 166. Goth U.G.S. Immigrants' use of the General Practitioner Scheme : A mixed method study analyzing access of primary health care service facilities in acute but not life-threatening medical situations. Oslo, Norway: University of Oslo, 2012.
- 167. Urquia ML, Frank JW, Moineddin R, Glazier RH. Does time since immigration modify neighborhood deprivation gradients in preterm birth? A multilevel analysis. *J.Urban.Health* 2011; 88:959-976.
- 168. Blencowe H, Cousens S, Oestergaard MZ, Chou D, Moller AB, Narwal R *et al.* National, regional, and worldwide estimates of preterm birth rates in the year 2010 with time trends since 1990 for selected countries: a systematic analysis and implications. *Lancet* 2012; 379:2162-2172.
- 169. OECD. Health at a Glance 2013: OECD Indicators. [http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/health_glance-2013-en]. Accessed 26 May 2014.
- Zeitlin J, Szamotulska K, Drewniak N, Mohangoo AD, Chalmers J, Sakkeus L et al. Preterm birth time trends in Europe: a study of 19 countries. *BJOG*. 2013; 120:1356-1365.
- 171. Syed HR, Dalgard OS, Dalen I, Claussen B, Hussain A, Selmer R *et al.* Psychosocial factors and distress: a comparison between ethnic Norwegians and ethnic Pakistanis in Oslo, Norway. *BMC.Public Health* 2006; 6:182.
- 172. Blom S and Henriksen K. Living conditions among immigrants to Norway 2005/06. Statistics Norway, 2008.
- 173. Oza-Frank R, Narayan KM. Overweight and diabetes prevalence among US immigrants. *American Journal of Public Health* 2010; 100:661-668.
- 174. Poobalan AS, Aucott LS, Gurung T, Smith WC, Bhattacharya S. Obesity as an independent risk factor for elective and emergency caesarean delivery in nulliparous women--systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. *Obes.Rev.* 2009; 10:28-35.

X APPENDICES

MFR Se utfyllings

Melding om avsluttet svangerskap etter 12. uke – Fødsel, dødfødsel, spontanabort Se utfyllingsinstruks for blanketten på baksiden

🕷 Sosial- og helsedirektoratet

		Institusionanti		Г				Fadaa		Mors ful	le navn og adresse		
	er	insulusjonsnr:		Institusjonsnavn				Hie	emme, planlaqt				
	ning				_			н	emme, ikke planlagt				
	plys	Mors		Gift Ugift	ensli	Annet		Ur	nder transport	Pikenav	n (etternavn):		
	e op	sivilstatus		Samboer Skilt/	separ	ert/enke		An	nnet sted				
	V – Sivil	Slektskap mellom barnets foreldre?		Nei Hvis ja, Ja hvorledes:				Mors bokom	nmune				
		Fars		Fars	ulle na	avn				Mors			
		fødselsdato	-		Sikker	Moro tidligo	2			fødsels	snr:		
		1. blødn.dag			Jsikke	svangerskap	o/fødte fødte	е- Г	Dødfødte (24. uke og over)		Spontanabort/I fødte (12.–23. u	Død- Spo uke) (und	ntanaborter der 12. uke)
	8	Ultralyd utført?		Nei UL Ja termin:		Annen prena diagnostikk?	atal Nei ?Ja, an	gi type:			Patolog prenata	jiske funn ved UNei al diagnostikk? D Ja, hvi:	s bekreftet – spesifiser
	B – Om svangerskap og mors hels	Spesielle forhold		Astma		Kronisk nyresykdom	Epilepsi		Regelmessig kosttilsku	ıdd:	Spesifikasjon av fo	orhold før eller under sva	ngerskapet:
		lør svangerskapet:		Allergi	F	Kronisk hypertensjon	Diabetes type	e 1	Nei Før sv.sk.	l sv.sk.	В		
				Res urinveisinfeksion	F	Hiertesykom	Annet spesifi	e Z iseri «R»		H			
				Blødning < 13 uke	F	Hypertension alene	Eklampsi	1361 T «D#	Annet, spesifiser i «	L B»	-		
		Spesielle forhold under		Blødning 13–28 uke	F	Preeklampsi lett	Hb < 9.0 g/dl			_			
		svangerskapet:		Blødning > 28 uke		Preeklampsi alvorlig	Hb > 13.5 g/d	1	Legemidler i svangersk	capet:			
		Intet spesielt		Glukosuri		Preeklampsi før 34. uke	Trombose, be	eh.	Nei				
		D. H.		Svangerskapsdiabetes		HELLP syndrom	Infeksjon, spe	es.i «B»	Ja – spesifiser i «B»		<u> </u>		
		Røyking og yrke Forutsetter mors samtyl	kke	Røykte mor ved	Ľ	Nei Daglig	. M	lors rke	Samtykker ikke for yrl	kesoppl.	Mors yrke		
		- se rettledning på baks	siden	sv.sk. begynnelse	Ĭ	Av og til Ant. sig. da	agi.:			IV Ntice	Brancio		
		Samtukker ikke f	ng g	wkeoppl avslutning	╞	Av on til Ant sin de	agl.:		Yrkesaktiv he	eltid	je:		
ŀ		Leie/presentasion:		Sete	Fø	Iselstart: E	v. induksjons-	Prosta	glandin	onid	Indikasjon for	Komplikasioner son	n beskrevet nedenfor
				Tverrleie		Spontan	etode:	Oxytoc	cin		inngrep og/eller induksion	Fostermisdannelser	r
		bakhode		Avvikende hodefødsel		Indusert	- 0	Amniot	tomi			Overtid	
				Annet, spesifiser i «C»		Sectio		Annet,	spesifiser i «C»			Annet, spesifiser i «	:C»
		Inngrep/tiltak		Utskj. tang, hodeleie	Fre	mhj. ved setefødsel:	Sectio:				Spesifikasjon av fo	orhold ved fødselen/andre	e komplikasjoner
		Ingen	Ц	Annen tang, hodeleie	F	Vanlig fremhjelp	Var sectio planlag	t før føds	sel? Nei .	Ja	С		
				Vakuumekstraktor	F		Utført som ele	ektiv sect	tio				
	seler	Komplikasioner		Episitomi Vannava 12–24 timer	+	Placenta previa	Blodn > 1500	utt sectio		ofykci			
	fød			Vannava. > 24 timer	F	Abruptio placentae	Blødning 500-	-1500 ml	Risvekkelse, stimule	rt			
	ē			Mekaniske misforhold		Perinealruptur (grad 1-2)	Eklampsi unde	er fødsel	Langsom fremgang				
	ပ်			Vanskelig skulderforløsning		Sphincterruptur (gr. 3-4)	Navlesnorfrer	mfall	Uterus atoni	Annet:			
		Anestesi/analgesi:		Lystgass		Epidural	Pudendal		Paracervical blokk				
	-			Petidin		Spinal	Infiltrasjon		Narkose	Annet:			
		Placenta:		Koagler	Nav	lesnor	Omslyng rund	dt hals	Fostervann		foract	Komplikasjoner hos mo	or etter fødsel
				Utskrapning Manuell utbenting	F	Normai Velamentast feste	Ekte knute	ig	Polyhydrampion		starget		Mor intensivbeb
		Ufullstendia			F	Marginalt feste	Neulegaar		Oligohydramnion		dtilblandet		Sepsis
		Infarkter	vekt	t	Ē	Karanomalier	lengde:					Eklampsi post partum	Annet, spesifiser
		Fødselsdato		Klokken	Plu	ralitet For f	lerfødsel:	Kjønr	n Gutt B	arnets		Total A	pgar score:
					Ļ	Enkeltfødsel	Av		Pike ve	ekt:		lengde:	1 min
						Fiertødsel Nr.	totalt	Ved t	vil spesitiser i «D»	H	lode-	Eventuelt	5 min
	ł	Barnet var:		For dødfødte	: [Død før fødsel	For dødfødte. on	pgi oasá	å Levendefødt. død i	nnen 24	timer	Død senere (dato):	Klokken
		Levendefødt		Dødfødt/sp.abort	Ē	Død under fødselen	Død før innko	mst	Livet				
	÷		Opp	pgi dødsårsak i «D»		Ukjent dødstidspunkt	Død etter innl	komst	varte: Timer		Min.		
afisk.	Darne	Overfl. barneavd.				Overfl. til			Indikasjon for	Re	spirasjonsproblem	Medfødte misd.	Annet, spesifiser
ndvord Grafis	om r	Nei Ja	Dat	to:	닏				overflytting:	Pre	ematur	Perinatale infeksjon	er
	4	Neonatale diagn.:	Ц	Hypoglyk. (< 2 mmol/l)		Transit. tachypnoe	Cerebral irrita	isjon	Konjunktivitt beh.	Fra	ct. claviculae	Behandlingskoder:	Icterus behandlet:
36. AI		(Fylles ut av lege/pediater)		Nedt. anemi (Hb < 13.5 g/d		Hesp. distress syndr.	Cerebral dept	resjon	Navle./hudinf. beh.		nen traktur	Systemisk antibiotika	Lysbehandlet
. 07.(Intet spesielt		noneieuusuyspi. ben. m/put		Intrakraniell blødning	Neonatale krz	amper	Perinat. inf. andre		xusskade	CPAP beh	Årsak:
23011	ł	Togn til		Spesifikasjon av skader, neo	natale	diagnoser og medfødte mis	dannelser - utfylles av	v lege					AB0 uforlik.
~		medfødte)		-							RH immunisering
100		misdannelser:											Fysiologisk
Ρ		Nei Ja											Annen årsak
		Г	Ш	kryss av hvis skjema er oppfølgingsskjema		Jordmor v/fødsel:						utskrivningsdato Mor:	
				1,000	Jordr	nor v/utskrivning:						WOI.	
I	Prot	tokolinr.:		/		Lege:			Lege barsel/barneavd:			Barn:	
			Protokolinr.: Lege: barsel/barneavd: Barn:										

REPORT ON COMPLETED PREGNANCY AFTER 12 WEEKS BIRTHS, STILLBIRTHS, MISCARRIAGES

	Institution no:	Institution name	Birth outside institution	Mother's full name and address
	A01	AO2	A03 At home, planned	A09
u			A04 At home, not planned	
oitei	Mothor ¹ c	A11 Marriad A13 I Inmarriad/cincila A15 Others	A05 During transportation	
inform	mourer s marital status	A12 Cohabitant A14 Divorced/separated/widow	A06 Elsewhere	Maiden name (Surname) A10
Civil			Mother's municipality	
- A	Are parents related	□ Yes	<mark>A21</mark>	AZZ
	Father's date of birth	Father's full name	Mother's	
	<mark>A19</mark>	AZO	(11 digits)	no. A07 A08

Autorisert

Dato: 23/8-2007

Signatur:

	Last menstrual period:		Mother's previous pregn	ancies/births				
	1st day of bleeding B01	☐ Certain B02 ☐ Uncertain	Live births B04	Stillborn (24 w more) B05	ks or Mi	scarriages / st ?-23 wks) ^{Bl}	illborn <mark>36</mark>	Miscarriages (under 12 wks) ^{B07}
	Ultrasound Bo8 performed? Yes	Ultra-sound due date B10	Other B11 No prenatal B11 Ve diagnostics? D Ye:) is, specify: B13	Pathologic findings at diagnostic	al prenatal <mark>B</mark> s?	<mark> 4</mark> No Yes, if c	confirmed – specify
r's health	Special conditions before pregnancy:	317 Asthma B21 C 318 Allergy di 319 Previous B22 C	thronic renal B25 El sease B26 Di hronic B27 Di	ipilepsy liabetes type 1 liabetes type 2	Regular dieta <mark>870</mark> No B Pi	i ry suppleme efore Du regn. pre	nt: cc gn. B	Specification of nditions before or luring pregnancy
ev sud mothe	BleNone	caesarean ^m . <mark>20</mark> Recurring B23 R urinary tract ar infection B24 H	ypertension theumatoid rthritis eart disease	ther, specify in "B"	Multi vitamins Folic acid	B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B	6 5	8 <mark>8</mark> 8
neneara adt tuodA- 8	Special conditions during pregnancy: 332 None	 33 Bleeding 13 Wk 34 Bleeding 13-28 wk 35 Bleeding> 28 wk 35 Glycosuria 37 Gestational diabetes 	B38 Hypertension only B39 Preeclampsia light B40 Preeclampsia severe B41 Preeclampsia<34wks B42 HELLP syndrome	 B43 Eclampsia B44 Hb< 9.0 g/dl B45 Hb > 13.5 g/c B46 Thrombosis, B48 Infections, sp B47 Other, specifi 	ll treated ecify in "B" / in "B"	Medication di pregnancy No Yes – speci in "B'	Iring	
3	Smoking and Occupation Conditioned on mother's consent – see instruction reverse.	Did mother smok s on at start of pregna	te <mark>B54</mark> No <mark>B56</mark> Daily I ncy? ^{B55} Sometimes ⁿ c	/ No. of B57 0	lother's ^{B62} [ccupation (Does not con employment 3 Not emplyed	sent to info	Mother's occupation: Business, trade, line etc.:
<u>ш</u>	 Written info given to mot Does not consent to smc info 	her - at the end of king of pregnancy?	B58 No B60 Daily B59 Sometimes N	/ lo. of cigs. daily: <mark>B61</mark>	<mark>8</mark> 8	 Employed fu Employed p 	ulltime art time	B67

1	Presentation	C02 Breech	Inception of labour	Induction method	Indication for intervention a	and/or induction
	Co1Normal	<mark>C03</mark> Transverse	Contaneous	<mark>00</mark> Prostaglandin	C13Complications, as describe	ed below
	cepnalic	Co4 Cephalic. abnormal		Comparison Oxytocin	C14Birth defects	
		C05 Other, specify in "C"	Coc Caesarean Coc	Amniotomy	C15Postterm	
		-	000	Others, specify in "C"	C16Other, specify in "C"	
	Intervention	C18 ow forcens cenhalic	Assistance at breech	delivery: Caesarean	section	Specification of
		C19Other forceps, cephali	c C22 Usual procedure	Was the sec	tion planned prior to delivery?	conditions during delivery / other
	C1/None	C20//aciliim extractor	C23 Extraction	Nover	Yes	complications
		C21Episiotomy	C24 Forceps on head	C25 C25 C26 Performe	d elective section d emergency section	C C84
	Complications	C30 Rupture of membrane	C34 Placenta previa	C38 Haemorrhage	C41 Prolaps of cord	C44 Slow progress
ų.	C29 None	12-24 hours	C35 Abruptio placentae	>1500 ml, tra	nsf C42 Threatening	C45 Uterine atony
hid ti		<mark>C31</mark> Rupture of membrane >24 hours	<mark>C36</mark> Perineal rupture	<mark>C39</mark> Haemorrhage 500-1500 ml	intrauterine asphyxia C43Reduced contractions	C86 Other:
por	100	C3 ² Mechanical obstructio	n (degree 1-2)	C40Eclamosia dur	- stimulated	
e – J		<mark>C3</mark> 3Complicated shoulder delivery	C37 Sphincter ruptur (degree 3-4)	delivery	2	
	Anaesthetics /	analgesic C47 Nitro	us oxide ^{C49} Epidural	<mark>C51</mark> Pudendal	<mark>C53</mark> Paracervical block	C87 Other:
	C46 None	C48 Peth	idine <mark>C50</mark> Spinal	C52 Infiltration	C54 General anaesthetics	0
	Placenta	C59 Blood clots	Imbilical cord	C67 Coiled round neck	Amniotic fluid	
	<mark>C55</mark> Normal		3 Normal		C70 Normal	<mark>C73</mark> Discoloured
	<mark>C56</mark> Membranal	C61 Manual extraction	Velamentous attachment	C69 Genuine knot	g <mark>C71</mark> Polyhydramnion	C74 Malodorous,
	C57 Incomplete		Peripheral attachment	Length of umbilical co	d: <mark>C72</mark> Oligohydramnion	C75 Bloodetainod
	C58 Infarction	Weight of Placenta: Ce	Vessel anomalies	C85		
	After-delivery c	complications - mother	<mark>C77</mark> Fever >38.5 C	<mark>C79</mark> Eclampsia postpart	um C81 Mother intensive care	<mark>C83</mark> Other, specify
	Vie None		278 Thrombosis	<mark>C80</mark> Mother transferred	C82 Sepsis	

Autorisert MBRN-part-C 22/03/2010

	Date of Birth: P	lurality	For multiple	Sex	Child's wei	ght:	Total length:	Apgar score:
	D01	Single delive	ry birth:	D07Male D08Female	D10		D12	1 min: D14
	Time: Do2	4 Multiple birth	No.: ^{D05} Of total: D06	lf uncertain, specify in "D" For stillborn <mark>. ⊡</mark> Uncertain s	Head circu D11 ex	mference:	Buttocks-vertex length: D13	5 min: <mark>D15</mark>
<u>I</u>	The child was:	For still	orn: ^{D18} Died before l	abour For stillborr	, note also:	Live birth, d hours	ied within 24	Died later:
	216 Live born D17Stillborn Specify cause o	//miscarriage f death in "D"	D19 Died during l D20 Time of dea	abour <u>D22</u> Dead bet	ore arrival r arrival	Life lasted: Hours: D23	Mins.: D24	Date: <mark>D25</mark> Time: <mark>D26</mark>
	Transferred to neonatal □ Nc ^{D27} □ Yes	unit: Tr of	ansferred to (name unit): _{D30}	Indication for transfer:	D31Respirato D32Pre-matu	ory problems re	D34 Perinatal infec	tions
plin	Date: <mark>D29</mark>				<mark>D33</mark> Birth defe	ects	<mark>D35</mark> Other, specify	
p əq	Neonatal diagnoses: To be completed by	D37 Hypoglyc	o. (<2 mmol/l)	D40 Transit. tachypnea	<mark>D44</mark> Cerebral irr	itation	D48Conjunctivitis	treated
it tu	physician / pediatrician)	D38 Cong.ana	aemia (Hb<13.5 g/dl)	D41 Resp. distress syndrome	<mark>D45</mark> Cerebral de	pression	<mark>D49</mark> Navel/dermal	infection treated
odA	D36 None	<mark>D39</mark> Hip joint o	dysplasia treated	D42 Aspiration syndrome	D46 Abstinence		<mark>D50</mark> Perinatal infec	stions, bacterial
- (with pillov	>	D43 Intracranial hemorrhage	D47 Neonatal fit	S	<mark>D51</mark> Perinatal infec	tions, other
]		<mark>D52</mark> Fract. cla	viculae	reatment codes:	Icterus, treate	:be	lcterus, cause:	
		D53 Other frac	cture D	<mark>56</mark> Systematic antibiotics	<mark>D59</mark> Light treatm	nent	<mark>D61</mark> ABO incompa	tible
		<mark>D54</mark> Facial pa	resis	57 Respiratory treatment	<mark>D60</mark> Transfusior	_	<mark>D62</mark> RH immuniza	tion
		<mark>D55</mark> Plexus inj	jury D	58 CPAP treatment			<mark>D63</mark> Physiological	
							D64Other cause	
	Signs of birth defects:	Specifications s and birth	on of injuries, neonal defects – to be comp	al diagnose bleted by physician:				
		D						
I	Record no:	Physician:			Discharged d	ate:		
	D68 / D69	Maternity wa	ard / Pediatric ward:		Mother: <mark>I</mark>	<mark>070</mark>	Child: D71	

Autorisert MBRN-part-D 22/03/2010

STATENS HELSETILSYN Postboks 8128 Dep. 0032 OSLO

.

Medisinsk registrering av fødsel

Sendes 9. dag etter fødselen til fylkeslegen (stadsfysikus) i det fylket der moren er bosatt.

Merk: Det skal fylles ut blankett for hvert barn (foster). Dør barnet etter fødselen, skal det også fylles ut legeerklæring om dødsfall, og/eller dødsfallet meldes til skifteretten (lensmannen).

	Barnet var	Født dag, mnd., år	Klokkeslett	Personnr.	Skriv ikke her	
	1 Levende 2 Dødfødt		1			
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Kiønn	1		
	1 Enkel 2 Tvilling 3	Trilling 4 Firling		Pike		
Barnet	Etternavn, alle fornavn (bare for levend	efødte)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	,				
	Fødested. Navn og adresse på svkehu	set/fødehiemmet	Kommune			
	Etternavn, alle fornavn		Født dag mnd år	Bostedskommune		
Faren			r bat dag, milai, ai	Bookodokominano		
	Etternavn, alle fornavn. Pikenavn			Født dag, mnd., år		
	Bosted. Adresse	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Kommune	1		
	Ekteskapelig status	n		Ekteskapsår (gifte)		
Moren	1 Ugift 6 Samboende	2 Gift 3 Enke 4	Separert 5 Skilt	a supervision of the second	and the second	
	Antall tidligere fødte	Levende fødte Av	disse i live	Dødfødte		
	(før denne fødselen)					
	Er moren i slekt med faren?		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
	1 Nei 2 Ja. Hvilket sle	ektskapsforhold:				
					1	
Morens helse før	1 Normal 2 Sykdom (spe	sifiser):				
svanger- skapet			Siste menstruasjons for	orste		
- ap - t			blødningsdag			
Morana	1 Normal 2 Komplikasjoner (spesifiser):					
helse under	1 Normal 2 Komplikasjon	er (spesifiser):				
svanger- skapet						
		•				
Ble fødselen						
provosert	1 Nei 2 Ja					
Inngrep under	r 1 Nei 2 Ja (spesifiser):					
lødselen	Inngrepet uttørt av 1 Lege 2 Jordmor					
	1 Lege 2 Jordmor					
Komplika-	1 Nei 2 Ja (spesifiser):					
sjoner i forbindelse						
med fødselen						
						
Fostervann,	1 Normalt 2 Patologisk (spesifiser):					
placenta og navlesnor				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
navioonoi						
	Bare for levende fødte. Tegn på asfyksi	?	Apgarscore etter 1 min	etter 5 min.		
	For levende fødte og dødfødte. Tegn på medfødt anomali, på skade eller sykdom?					
	1 Nei 2 Ja. Hvilke:					
Barnets						
tilstand	Lengde (i cm) Hode-omkr. (i cm) Vekt (i g) For døde innen 24 timer Timer Min					
	Livet varte i					
	For dødfødte. Døden inntrådte 1 Før fødselen 2 Under fødselen					
	beusaisan.					
			Seksjon?	I Nei 2 Ja		
Alvorlige	1 Nei 2 Ja Sykdomi	mens art og hos hvilke slektninger:				
arvelige		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
slekten						

Sted (sykehusets stempel)

Dato

50 000. 5.96. SEM GRAFISK

PAPER I

PAPER II

PAPER III